MEETING OF THE
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

To:

The Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Dear Member,
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
to be held on Wednesday, 15th January, 2020 at 10.15am in the Authority
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP.
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Shauna Phillips
telephone number (0151) 330 1086.
Yours faithfully

Head of Paid Service
WEBCASTING NOTICE
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic
Services
Officer
on
the
above
number
or
email
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.
A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-ProcessingNotice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton
and Wirral Combined Authority)

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
AGENDA

1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE HELD ON 6 NOVEMBER 2019
(Pages 1 - 8)

4.

APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR

5.

MAYORAL COMBINED AUTHORITY BUDGET SETTING REPORT
2020/21
To consider the report of the Director of Corporate Services.
(Pages 9 - 62)

6.

REVIEW OF ACTIONS TO IMPROVE POOR AIR QUALITY ACROSS
THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION
To consider the report of the Assistant Director of Policy and Strategic
Commissioning.
(Pages 63 - 98)

7.

APPOINTMENT TO THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
2019/20
To consider the report of the Monitoring Officer.
(Pages 99 - 108)

8.

REVIEW INTO THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION LOCAL ENTERPRISE
PARTNERSHIP
To consider the report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer.
(Pages 109 - 124)

9.

TASK AND FINISH REVIEW - NEXT STEPS
To receive a verbal presentation which provides an opportunity for
Members to identify a topic for the next Task and Finish Review.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
At an inquorate meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in the
Authority Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 6th
November, 2019 the following Members were
Councillor Bill Woolfall
Councillor Louise Whitley

Labour
Labour

Halton BC
Halton BC

Councillor Edna Finneran
Councillor John Morgan

Labour
Labour

Knowsley MBC
Knowsley MBC

Councillor Sam Gorst
Councillor Tom Crone

Labour
Green

Liverpool CC
Liverpool CC

Councillor Christine Howard
Councillor Sam Marshall
Councillor Paula Murphy

Labour
Labour
Labour

Sefton MBC
Sefton MBC
Sefton MBC

Councillor Helen Cameron

Labour

Wirral MBC

Councillor Dr John Pugh

Liberal Democrats

LCR Opposition Group

In light of the meeting being inquorate, the Chair, Councillor Tom Crone on behalf of
the Committee requested that: 1)

a report be produced to consider ways and measures that can be taken to
improve the inquorate meetings of the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee;
and

2)

a briefing paper be produced looking at best practice among the other
Combined Authorities across the country relating to quorum practices and
ways to improve inquorate meetings.

20.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Andy Bowden, Adrian Jones,
Tricia O‟Brien, Jean Stapleton, Kevan Wainwright, and Sir Ron Watson CBE.
21.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.
22.

MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 4TH SEPTEMBER 2019

The inquorate meeting noted the minutes of the previous inquorate meeting of the
LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 4th September 2019 as a correct
record.

Page 1

23.

METRO MAYOR S ROTHERAM'S UPDATE

The Metro Mayor, Steve Rotheram provided an update relating to his recent activities
and he highlighted the following: LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee inquorate meetings
The quoracy of the meeting affects the final accounts of the Combined Authority,
through the “qualified” account due to inquorate meetings in the final review it raises
questions relating to the Governance arrangements.
Merseyrail Dispute
Led discussions with both parties to resolve the 3 year dispute, which has now been
agreed in principle which will be put to members. This then guarantees a
guard/second safety-critical person on every train.
Convention of the North
Attended the convention of the North in Rotheram, Yorkshire with the Metro Mayor of
Greater Manchester in September 2019 and he made representation to Government
for 5 priorities:  Action to resolve the Northern Rail debacle;
 Providing a London style subsidy for buses;
 Action on clean air;
 More Support for rough sleepers; and
 Devolution for more powers for skills and training.
Also met with the Prime Minister and re-iterated the priorities. As a result a Northern
Manifesto has been produced, which is cross party and will be published soon.
Smart Ticketing
New era for smart ticketing and smart travel across the City Region with the Metro
Card which will replace the Walrus. First step to deliver a more simplified transport
system. Daily bus fares will be capped across the City Region.
Social Innovation Fund
Created a new £5m social innovation fund, to support social trading organisations to
multiply and grow businesses across the region to drive new innovation and support
the thriving third sector across the city region to grow from strength to strength.
Local Industrial Strategy (LIS)
Developed further the LIS and hosting a number of consultation events with the
Chamber of Commerce, Trade Unions, Social Economy, Third Sector and continued
engagement until submission to Government in 2020.
Northern Rail
Grant Chapps “Northern Rail can‟t continue the way it is”. It is travel chaos at stations
relating to late trains, cancelled trains or short platforms etc. Met with Secretary of
Statement emphasised the concerns and discussed removing the franchise and
ownership for an “operator of last resort”. Also met with Northern who have promised
further improvements, but hoping that an “operator of last resort” is brought in for
Northern.

Page 2

Housing First Update
Piloting Housing First approach with Government pilot funding, making good strides.
Welcomed a number of first users into their own homes with their own furniture and
wanted to thank the Housing First Team and Kate Farrell.
Active Travel
600km cycle and walking network spanning the length and breadth of the city region.
Result in more people „ditching‟ the cars and providing a genuine and more
environmentally friendly mode of transport. Recent appointment of Simon O‟Brien as
a keen cyclist supporting Active Travel.
Housing Strategy
Friday 1st November 2019 approved the new Housing Strategy, calling on
Government to provide £200m for brown site remediation, to be cleared and
commercially developed with the potential for 42,000 homes to be built across the
city region.
Councillor Sam Marshall enquired about the “operator of last resort” and if it was
similar to what happened on the East Coast Line.
Metro Mayor S Rotheram commented that it was similar to the East Coast Mainline,
which went back into public ownership and turned over a profit. He spoke about the
opportunity in the city region and the detailed negotiations with DfT relating to
guaranteed services to support the climate emergency and alternative travel.
Councillor John Pugh commented about the issues Northern Rail face relating to
delays, infrastructure and rolling stock and if the “operator of last resort” would face
similar challenges and enquired about the investment programme.
Metro Mayor S Rotheram commented that there have been no investment from
Government and Network Rail have failed on a number of projects in comparison to
the projects on Merseyrail which has been delivered on time and within budget.
People need the guarantee of the services which is not being given by Northern Rail.
Councillor Sam Gorst enquired about the potential 42,000 new homes and whether it
would be social housing or private luxury homes.
Metro Mayor S Rotheram commented that it would be up to each Local Authority to
decide how to invest. The Combined Authority can only get the pots of money for the
Local Authority‟s to bid into. He stated that it should be social housing and for
housing to be affordable for the public.
Councillor Edna Finneran enquired about homelessness and people sleeping on the
streets and what was being done as a Combined Authority and as Local Authorities.
Metro Mayor S Rotheram spoke about “hidden homelessness” and “rough sleepers”
that needed to be tackled through the building of more houses and homes across the
city region. He referred to the brownfield sites that had been left derelict across the
region, which could be used to build houses and create homes for these people. He
also spoke about the Housing First project and its progress.
Councillor Sam Marshall welcomed the “brownfield project” initiatives and enquired
about the derelict sites that were “housing market renewal initiatives” that were
already prepared for renewal and if it would be included in the project.

Page 3

Metro Mayor S Rotheram confirmed that the “housing market renewal initiative” sites
were included in the “brownfield project”. He spoke about enabling Local Councils to
build council houses again and being able to pull the initiatives together.
Councillor Tom Crone also welcomed the “brownfield project” and enquired if the
Metro Mayor would confirm that houses would not be built on greenfield sites or
green areas. He also commented about the “active travel” project and welcomed the
600km improvements to cycling lanes and walking paths across the region, but
wanted to know if more than £4.8m would be committed to the project from the
Transforming Cities Fund as it would not be enough to complete the 600km
improvements.
Metro Mayor S Rotheram spoke about the “active travel” project and access to more
money would not make a difference given the Government cycle for spending which
was between 2-4 years. The allocated money will be spent on time to prepare the
work and the cycling and walking network for the infrastructure plans ahead. He
commented about the current method of creating the cycling lanes and the work
required to ensure it is done properly and not just painted lanes, but segregated
cycling lanes and walking paths. The Metro Mayor, S Rotheram also spoke about the
Brownfield First project and informed the Committee that the Combined Authority is
not a planning authority, but in a general course of direction could persuade partners
to do something about the greenfield sites.
Councillor Sam Gorst enquired about disabled parking at train stations and
accessible train stations.
Metro Mayor S Rotheram commented that there were many train stations across the
region with an aging infrastructure, but there were plans to do more and to improve
accessibility as it was currently 62%, but will be working hard to get it up to 100%.
£15m of funding has been committed to rebuild and refurbish stations.
The inquorate Committee noted the Metro Mayors‟ update and thanked him for his
attendance.
__________
Councillor Paula Murphy left the meeting at 10.53am.
__________
24.

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION HOUSING STATEMENT UPDATE

The inquorate Committee considered a report from the Head of Government
Relations, John McGee providing an update relating to the Draft City Region Housing
Statement and Delivery Plan 2019-24.
Councillor Edna Finneran enquired about the building of affordable homes and what
was meant by affordable and the older population living in 3/4 bedroom homes and
would want to scale down but not prepared to move into flats, as they would prefer
bungalows, but availability is an issue.
John McGee referred the Committee to the vision and foreword in the Draft City
Region Housing Statement and Delivery plan which provided an explanation about
“affordability” and working with the housing market to deliver on the ambitions
including bungalows, to free up the 3/4 bedroom homes. He also explained that the
Combined Authority was working with the Local Authority‟s to provide good quality,

Page 4

manageable and well built homes for the regions residents as part of the housing
planning process for the next 10-15 years.
Councillor Dr John Pugh enquired about the landlord licensing schemes in the City
Region and its success and whether “rogue landlords” were re-thinking how they
would treat tenants. He also asked about homeless people and whether there was
any data relating to the % of people who were homeless who suffered with addictions
and mental health issues.
John McGee informed the Committee that there was no quality of data around
homelessness and those who suffered with addictions and had mental health issues,
which was quite poor as it was quite difficult to acquire that kind of detailed data. He
spoke about the landlord licensing schemes and reported that it was working well,
but it was time limited and within a limited geography within the region, but ongoing
discussions were taking place with Local Authorities to extend the scheme.
Councillor Christine Howard spoke about Local Authorities having the powers and
means to build housing on brownfield sites and enquired about the £200m previously
identified for de-contamination and whether it would also be used for building houses.
She also asked about the further devolution powers and whether it can be
guaranteed that the £200m identified for decontaminating Brownfield sites would be
given to Local Authorities, rather than private development companies.
John McGee said that it would depend on what happened at the General Elections,
but he was of the view that those devolved powers would not be given. He also
stated that Homes England‟s funding process focused on infrastructure and
decontamination and not building houses as there was very little money. However,
discussions were underway to deliver on a pipeline of schemes and activities and
bring together funding.
Councillor Sam Marshall commented that the report was good and the information
relating to the social landlords, the local authorities, the private landlords and housing
partners was a credit to the work being done. She enquired about the length of time it
has taken to be saying the same things since 2012 relating to accessible homes for
all and shouldn‟t the council provisions be prioritised relating to the funding for more
council houses to be built.
John McGee commented that he understood the frustrations, but the decision to build
more council houses was a political decision and it was about delivering the 42,000
new homes and improving the life chances of the regions citizens.
Councillor Tom Crone enquired about the integration of the housing policy with
transport and whether provisions for private car ownership and encouraging
residents to live without a car and rely more on public transport was being
considered. He also asked about whether it was possible for the Combined Authority
to put together packages of projects to harness more energy company funding.
John McGee commented that work was underway to bring together the Transport
Plan, the Housing Statement and the Spatial Development Strategy and to set design
standards for the future meeting the green economy. He also spoke about the
Combined Authority already looking at the energy packages to secure funding from
external sources.

Page 5

The inquorate Overview and Scrutiny Committee noted: a) the report;
b) the vision set out in the City Region Housing Statement; and
c) the proposed approach to the Delivery Plan 2019-24.
25.

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION HOUSING FIRST SERVICE UPDATE

The inquorate Committee considered a report from the Head of Government
Relations, John McGee providing an update relating to the Housing First service
within the Liverpool City Region and he highlighted the following: 










The project has taken a long time to prepare and to collate the strategy, but it is
beginning to deliver and work well;
15 people have been employed as key workers of the housing first service,
providing a wrap around service;
There have been 94 referrals over 2 months so it is full as it is only a pilot;
13 people have been housed and 48 people are actively considering whether
they want to use the scheme or not;
11-15 people are currently waiting on the right home;
Working relationships with key partners in the City Region is going well including
key people in the Local Authority housing teams, the NHS, the Criminal Justice
system and other third sector organisations;
Looking to set up a local Social Lettings Agency to help expand the service to
more users;
Looking at Strategic Housing allocations with the Local Authorities to ensure the
property pool is working well across the Housing First service; and
It is a 3- year programme so thinking about the sustainability and future funding.

Councillor Edna Finneran enquired about the Property Pool and how confusing it
could be for local people looking for housing regarding the “banding” in areas of the
City as the criteria and process varies across the region and it should be one
process.
John McGee commented that the Combined Authority were looking at the issues and
trying to co-ordinate the approach with the Local Authorities regarding the process
and a more consistent approach.
Councillor Sam Marshall enquired about the actual data being captured for the pilot
together with costs of provisions and modelling against what it could be etc.
John McGee informed the Committee that data was being captured, monitored and
being evaluated and further details could be shared with the Committee if required.
Councillor Sam Gorst spoke about the General Elections and whether or not the
Property Pool could be brought in-house so that Local Authorities could manage the
Property Pool and not the Registered Social Landlords.

Page 6

John McGee commented that it could be looked at through the devolution relating to
housing.
Councillor Tom Crone enquired the development of the business plan with £7m over
3 years and if there were any estimations of savings over the future years e.g. using
the Finland model.
John McGee informed the Committee that it has been looked at and large sums of
savings were identified for the future.
The inquorate Overview and Scrutiny Committee noted the contents of the progress
of the Housing First service within the Liverpool City Region.

26.

APPRENTICESHIPS

The inquorate Committee considered a report from the Policy Lead, Employment and
Skills, Rob Tabb providing an update on the implementation of the actions agreed
following the Scrutiny Review in 2016/17 and he highlighted the following:














Apprenticeships are important to the City Region as it contributes both
economically and socially;
It has an economic impact and is good for businesses and is seen as a tool for
social mobility to develop skills and to progress in work;
This Committee conducted a review in 2016/17 and submitted recommendations
which were accepted by the Combined Authority;
The timing of the review took place just before major funding and operational
reforms were implemented in April 2017;
As a result of the reforms the City Region was dis-proportionately negatively
affected by the implementation of the reforms similar to that of Sheffield, West
Midlands and Tees Valley;
The Apprenticeship Levy is about large employers who pay a particular levy and
agree how it is spent;
The numbers of 16-18 years old who started apprenticeships are maintained and
the proportion has increased recently together with Level 4 plus apprenticeships;
There have been restrictions and reductions in funding for small businesses with
less than 130 staff who don‟t pay into the apprenticeship levy, but there are
facilities available for those who have spare apprenticeship levy to transfer
funding to other organisations to fund over 100 apprenticeships;
Disproportionate affected in some sectors, but the requirement to spend 20%
time with off the job training and it has been recently enforced, but has impacted
social care e.g. domiciliary care;
Some actions have been put in place through the programmes in place –
o An application Apprenticeship Portal;
o The Combined Authority agreed in October 2019 to fund £4m of SIF
funding for the Skills and Employers brokerage service;
o Invested in development of new standards for Maritime qualifications; and
o Embedded the creation of apprenticeships in social value.

Page 7



It is a live conversation with the Government Officials, Metro Mayor and Portfolio
Lead raising issues and concerns for the apprenticeships.

Councillor Edna Finneran spoke about recently visiting a college in Knowsley and
then visiting an engineering company and finding out that the company did not use
the college as the qualifications to be an engineer did not match the qualifications on
offer at the college as it was out of date so no apprentices would be hired.
Rob Tabb commented that additional funding has been made available to colleges
and universities other providers to have up to date training and equipment.
Councillor Sam Marshall welcomed the report and the actions being delivered and
noted the 50% reduction, but was pleased with the mitigation being put in place by
the Combined Authority and the discussions taking place with the Metro Mayor and
Government officials.
The inquorate Overview and Scrutiny Committee noted: a) the update on the actions recommended by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee in March 2017; and
b) the broader update on apprenticeships and the work underway by the Combined
Authority.
27.

NEXT MEETING

The next meeting of the Liverpool City Region Overview and Scrutiny Committee be
held on 15th January 2020.
The Chair on behalf of the Committee noted that it was Charles Yankiah‟s last
meeting as he was due to leave the Combined Authority. The Chair thanked Charles
for his support and work on the Committee and wished him the best for the future.

Chairperson of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
(The meeting closed at 11.45 am)

Page 8

Agenda Item 5
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY
To:

The Chair and Members of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

Meeting:

15 January 2020

Authority/Authorities Affected:

All

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES
MAYORAL COMBINED AUTHORITY BUDGET SETTING REPORT 2020/21

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

On 24 January 2020, the LCR Combined Authority will be asked to consider and
approve the Mayoral Budget, including the Mayoral precept and Tunnel Tolls.

1.2

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will wish to consider the budget proposals
which are included at Appendix One and provide any comments to the LCR
Combined Authority.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee consider the
proposals contained in Appendix One and provide any comments to the LCR
Combined Authority which can be considered as part of the budget setting process
for 2020/21.

4.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

4.1

Financial
All financial implications are addressed within Appendix One.

4.2

Human Resources
All human resources implications are addressed within Appendix One.

4.3

Physical Assets
All physical assets implications are addressed within Appendix One.

Page 9

4.4

Information Technology
All information technology implications are addressed within Appendix One.

5.

RISKS AND MITIGATION

5.1

Appendix One will address the risks and mitigating factors associated with the
budget setting process.

6.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

6.1

All Equality and Diversity implications are addressed within Appendix One.

7.

COMMUNICATION ISSUES

7.1

All communications implications are addressed within Appendix One.

JOHN FOGARTY
Director of Corporate Services

Contact Officers:
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance (0151 330 1015)
Appendices:
Appendix One – Mayoral Combined Authority Budget Setting Report 2020/21

Page 10

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix One
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY
To:

The Metro Mayor and Members of the Combined
Authority

Meeting:

24 January 2020

Authority/Authorities Affected:

All

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES
MAYORAL COMBINED AUTHORITY BUDGET SETTING REPORT 2020/21

1.

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

This report seeks approval for the Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined
Authority budget for 2020/21. In establishing its budget, the LCRCA needs to make
a series of key decisions regarding its income and how it uses this income.

1.2

The Combined Authorities (Finance) Order 2017 established new financial
arrangements in respect of Mayoral Combined Authorities that need to be reflected
in the 2020/21 budget. These include the requirement to specifically determine the
costs of the Combined Authority Mayor.

1.3

The Order also requires the Combined Authority Mayor to notify the Combined
Authority of the Mayor’s draft budget before 1st February 2020, which was complied
with in the issuing of this report and provides a statutory timescale for the Combined
Authority to consider and, where appropriate, to recommend amendments to the
Mayor before 8th February 2020.

1.4

This provision only applies to the Mayoral Cost element of the Combined Authority’s
budget for 2020/21, and specifically those areas where the Mayoral Combined
Authority is funded through the Mayoral precept.

1.5

The Combined Authority must also set a budget for its other costs in 2020/21. This
includes transport activity funded through the Transport Levy mechanism and the
operation and maintenance of the Mersey Tunnels estate.

1.6

Members will be aware that the LCRCA has a statutory duty to agree a levy for
2020/21 before 14th February 2020.

1.7

The LCRCA must also set the schedule of tolls applicable to the Mersey Tunnel for
2020/21. This decision is subject to a separate report that was considered by the
Transport Committee at its meeting of the 23rd January 2020, and the revenue
associated with their recommendation is incorporated into the LCRCA budget for
2020/21.

Page 13

1.8

In funding its transport activities, the Combined Authority also needs to establish a
differential levy in respect of the LCRCA’s transport powers in Halton. It is
important to note, however that there are no changes to the delivery of transport
services in Halton implied within this report.

1.9

The purpose of this report is to bring together these key decisions and present
detail of the budget requirement for the Authority for 2020/21, together with the
operational grants that will be payable to Merseytravel and Halton for the delivery of
the LCRCA’s transport activities throughout the City Region.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority is recommended to:(a) note this report;
(b) agree the Mayoral Budget as presented at Table 1 of this report;
(c) agree to freeze the Mayoral precept at its 2018/19 level equivalent to £19 per
year for a Band D property and £12.67 per year for a Band A property;
(d) approve the non-Mayoral elements of the Combined Authority budget for
2020/21;
(e) approve a transport levy of £97.4m for 2020/21 based on the appropriate index
of inflation (rpi) at November 18th 2019 (2.1%);
(f) approve the payment of an operational grant of £94.1m to Merseytravel;
(g) accept the recommendation of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority’s
Transport Committee in respect of Tunnel Tolls at Table 10 of this report;
(h) approve the request for an operational grant of £23.9m in respect of the
operation of Mersey Tunnels for 2020/21;
(i) approve a grant of £11m to Merseytravel to support the delivery of strategic
capital investment and pre development works in respect of schemes in the
Transforming Cities pipeline;
(j) approve a grant of £5.9m to Merseytravel to support the project delivery costs
associated with Rolling Stock and additional delivery on transport schemes;
(k) note the passporting of £94.56m Special Rail Grant from the Combined Authority
to Merseytravel in line with the Concession Agreement;
(l) recognise the differential levy payable by Halton as £3.2m
(m)agree a corresponding grant from the LCRCA to Halton of £3.2m in order that
Halton can continue to provide transport services in Halton on behalf of the
LCRCA in 2020/21;
(n) note the increased costs associated with the Rolling Stock project as detailed at
6.6 and the actions being taken by Officers to try and mitigate additional costs;
(o) approve an increase in borrowing facility of up to £50m for additional costs in
respect of the infrastructure works associated with the Rolling Stock Project
should this be required;
(p) approve the measures proposed to fund the additional Network Rail costs set
out in 6.7 and including the additional borrowing requirement;
(q) approve the proposed distribution of the Transport Single Capital Pot as detailed
at 7.4; and
(r) Approve the Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21 incorporating the Minimum
Revenue Provision and associated Treasury Limits and Prudential Indicators as
detailed at Appendix 1.

Page 14

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

The Mayoral budget reflects the priorities of the City Region Metro Mayor and is
focussed on investment in economic growth in the City Region including in our
infrastructure, our skills and our environment.

3.2

These priorities include building upon commitments made in our devolution
agreement with government and ensuring that the City Region gets maximum
benefit from those resources and powers that have been devolved to it.

3.3

The budget will make special provision for a number of key, strategic priorities in
2020/21. Of these, the most significant are:





3.4

Mersey Tidal Power Project
Liverpool City Region Digital Connectivity Programme
Use of Mayoral Powers under the Bus Services Act
Support for Sefton’s Borough of Culture

The Mayoral Combined Authority also manages a significant portfolio of
investments across the City Region that will improve economic growth and
opportunities for our residents, businesses and visitors. Of these investments, the
larger ones that will progress through different stages of delivery in 2020/21 are:










New trains for the Merseyrail network
Shakespeare North Playhouse
Parkside Link Road
Liverpool City Centre Connectivity Programme
The redevelopment of Runcorn Station Quarter
Headbolt Lane rail enhancements
Wirral Waters and the regeneration of Birkenhead
Bootle & Southport Strategic Investment Fund schemes
Procurement of new Mersey Ferries

3.5

In addition to the Mayoral budget, the Combined Authority’s budget also reflects
those powers and responsibilities already held by the Combined Authority prior to
the establishment of the City Region Mayoral powers. These principally relate to
transport powers.

3.6

In respect of transport powers, this budget considers the transport levy payable by
each of the district councils within the city region and the schedule of tolls in respect
of the Mersey Tunnels for 2020/21.

3.7

The Combined Authority has delegated detailed financial monitoring with respect to
transport activities to the Transport Committee.
The Transport Committee
considered the detailed transport budget for Merseytravel at its meeting on 16
January and a verbal update on the outcome of these discussions will be provided.

Page 15

4.

MAYORAL COSTS AND BUDGET 2020/21

4.1

The Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority has been established in law
as a major precepting authority in order that the costs associated with exercising its
functions can be funded in an appropriate manner.

4.2

Having due regard to the principles of value for money the Mayor has sought to
minimise the costs associated with these functions and has established a structure
that includes only those functions directly associated with delivering the maximum
benefit for the City Region.

4.3

The Mayor has sought to provide resources to further priorities in digital
connectivity, tidal energy and other areas associated with the devolution agreement
which will be of significant and long-term benefit to the City Region.

4.4

The Mayor recognises the financial challenges facing households across the City
Region and does not want to add to this burden unnecessarily.

4.5

The Mayor – along with all the members of the Combined Authority – recognises
the financial impact of government policy on households in the City Region. To help
address these pressures it is proposed to freeze the precept for 2020/21 at the
levels approved in 2019/20. This means that the precept for a Band D property in
2020/21 will remain at the level of £19.00 and £12.67 for Band A.

4.6

Whilst the yield from the Mayoral Precept will benefit from growth in the tax base,
this does not increase the precept in real terms and does not increase the amount
paid by households. In order to minimise any increases in the Mayoral Precept, the
Mayor will instead use other resources to fund Mayoral costs.

4.7

The table below confirms the precept that will be payable for each band of property
across the City Region.
Table 1 Mayoral Precept by Council Tax Band 2020/21
Band
Band A
Band B
Band C
Band D
Band E
Band F
Band G
Band H

4.8

Charge £
12.67
14.78
16.89
19.00
23.22
27.44
31.67
38.00

Additional responsibilities and commitments arising from the devolution deal
continue to increase and wherever possible, the Mayor is using other sources of
funding to shield households from corresponding increases in taxation.

Page 16

4.9

The Combined Authority (Finance) Order 2017 requires the Mayor to specifically

identify the budget for costs directly related to the exercise of Mayoral function in
2020/21. These are presented in Table 2 below.
4.10 It should be noted that Table 2 includes only those costs funded through the precept
for 2020/21 and is provided for the purposes of transparency. In reality, these costs
form only a proportion of overall Combined Authority expenditure which is shown in
its general budget in Table 3.
Table 2: Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority Costs 2020/21
20/21
£'000

Mayoral Allowance
Corporate Management
Bus Services Alternative Delivery Models
Tidal
Digital
Culture
Mayoral and Priority Programmes & Projects Support
Housing and Spatial Planning
Policy & Strategic Commissioning
Commercial Development & Investment
Communications, Marketing & Corporate Engagement
Corporate Services
Total Mayoral Budget

4.11

93
979
550
1,222
575
315
684
337
1,293
684
600
683
8,015

The Mayor has put forward an ambitious programme of activities and initiatives to

ensure that:







every part of the City Region benefits from the £900m Gainshare funding
secured in the Devolution agreement and the £500m Strategic Investment
Fund, and that no borough is left behind;
the City Region develops the digital and low carbon infrastructure to
capitalise on its natural assets – including harnessing the power of the river
Mersey and Liverpool Bay through the Mersey Tidal Power Scheme;
everyone in the City Region has access to has a London-style transport
network; and
that the LCRCA secures a second devolution deal with Government which
means more funding and powers are taken from Whitehall and given to the
City Region.

4.12 The Mayor is committed to delivering these pledges and the Mayoral budget for
2020/21 will allow him to fulfil this commitment.

Page 17

5.

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY REVENUE BUDGET 202021

5.1

Overview

5.1.1 The Combined Authority’s revenue budget for 2020/21 includes all the functions of
the Combined Authority and not just those associated with the exercise of Mayoral
powers. In particular, this budget includes the costs associated with the Combined
Authority’s substantial responsibilities for transport.
Table 3 LCRCA Revenue Budget 2020/21
£'000

Mayoral Allowance
Corporate Management
Bus Services Alternative Delivery Models
Tidal
Digital
Culture
Mayoral and Priority Programmes & Projects Support
Policy & Strategic Commissioning
Commercial Development & Investment
Communications, Marketing & Corporate Engagement
Corporate Services
Election Costs
Merseytravel Operating Grant
Other Payments to Merseytravel
Mersey Tunnels Operating Grant
Halton Differential Levy
Net Debt Servicing Costs
Total Expenditure
Funded by:
Transport Levy
Mayoral Precept
Halton Differential Levy
Tunnel Tolls
Mayoral Capacity Grant
Gain Share Revenue Grant
Special Rail Grant
Transport Infrastructure Reserve
Rail Capital Financing Reserve
Other Earmarked Reserves
Total Income
Net Budget Requirement

Page 18

93
979
550
1,222
575
315
684
4,424
2,281
2,158
1,950
2,000
94,114
111,460
23,883
3,200
20,463
270,351

-97,403
-8,015
-3,200
-40,000
-1,000
-4,348
-94,557
-13,000
-7,500
-1,328
-270,351
0

5. 2

Strategic Investment Fund Revenue Programme 2020/21

5.2.1 In addition to the main revenue budget, LCRCA is supporting an extensive
programme of investment across the City Region through its Strategic Investment
Fund.
5.2.2 This investment brings together funding from a number of sources to allow a more
strategic and coherent approach to investment in economic growth. While the
majority of funding is earmarked for capital schemes, a proportion is available to
fund revenue priorities.
5.2.3 Most funding is subject to a five yearly gateway review which will take place during
2020/21. As such, it is critical that the Combined Authority and its delivery partners
have the capacity and resources they need to accelerate delivery across all of its
investment portfolio.
5.2.4 As a result, the Combined Authority is proposing a significant investment in capacity
to maximise the benefit of existing funding streams and to ensure that the City
Region is well-placed to benefit from future funding opportunities. This investment
includes resources for the management of the current investment portfolio but also
includes a provision for the development of a pipeline of schemes in anticipation of
future funding opportunities.
5.2.5 Resources available for revenue projects are limited and applications for SIF
revenue resources are over-subscribed. The first call on revenue in the current fiveyear tranche of Gainshare funding has been on existing commitments such as
previous International Business Festivals, election costs and capacity building in
support of managing the general SIF programme.
Table 4 SIF Revenue Schemes (Committed)

Spend to
31/03/20
£'000
Internationalisation
Liverpool Film and Content Fund
International Festival of Business 2018
Cultural Events Programme
Future Proofing M6
Growing Business Visits
Development Fund
Createch Scale Up
Skills Apprenticeship and Brokers
Agent Academy
Brexit Resilience Fund
Total Projected Spend

Forecast
Spend
20/21
£'000

Total
Spend
£'000

100
161
5,000
4,142
284
142
3,000
1,032
574
47
5,000

0
63
0
0
0
315
3,140
323
1,623
179
10,000

100
224
5,000
4,142
284
457
6,140
1,355
2,197
226
15,000

19,482

15,643

35,125

Page 19

5.2.6 In addition to those committed schemes detailed in the table above, there are a
number of other SIF revenue schemes which are currently either in development or
awaiting approval. These are detailed in the table below.
Table 5 SIF Revenue Schemes (Pipeline)
Projected Total
Spend
£’000
3,000
1,600
2,000
930
2,250
140
5,000
250
15,170

Good Business Festival 2020
LCR Visitor Economy
Music Industry Sector Development
LCC 5G Network
High Growth Programme
Baltic Creative
VOLA
Civic Data Trust
TOTAL
5.3

TRANSPORT

5.3.1 The Combined Authority is the transport authority for the Liverpool City Region. Its
transport responsibilities are discharged by Merseytravel and by Halton Council
within the boundaries of Halton.
5.3.2 Transport responsibilities are funded through the transport levy. The transport levy
has reduced significantly in recent years and this has benefited those districts that
fund the levy through Council Tax.
5.3.3 Higher inflation and demographic pressures mean that further levy reductions are
not possible for 2020/21 however the Combined Authority can commit to
maintaining increases to inflation-only for 2020/21. Should this levy be agreed, the
distribution of the Levy will be as detailed in the table below.
Table 6 Transport Levy by Authority

Knowsley
Liverpool
Sefton
St Helens
Wirral
Total

Transport Levy Transport Levy
2019/20
2020/21
£’000
£’000
10,006
10,240
33,095
33,869
18,490
18,851
12,073
12,321
21,736
22,123
95,400

97,404

Note: Halton Council equivalent transport differential levy is £3.2m for 2020/21

Page 20

5.3.4 Whilst the increase in Levy will mean an increase in the resources provided to
Merseytravel, it will still be require adjustments to be made to its cost base over the
period to operate within the grant provided.
5.3.5 The most significant transport activity on 2020/21 will be the operation and
implementation of the new fleet of rolling stock. Changes to the original operating
model for the new fleet will require changes to be made to the original business
case in 2020/21 and there is a financial risk associated with this.
5.3.6 While transitional funding arrangements will apply in 2020/21, managing the
financial risk associated with changes to the operating model will be a priority in
2020/21 to ensure that our rail funding model remains sustainable.
5.3.7 In addition, delays on the part of Network Rail mean that the full benefits of the new
timetable cannot be fully implemented until 2021/22, even though the new fleet will
be in service (see 6.6). This will have a temporary but negative impact on revenue.
Should this be the case, this could be mitigated by retaining a small proportion of
the existing fleet during the transitional phase.
5.3.8 This will increase the costs associated with the Rolling Stock programme for
2020/21 and require a further draw down of resources from the Rail Capital
Financing reserve.
5.3.9 Project costs have also been impacted by HM Treasury’s decision to increase
interest rates on Public Work Loans Board (PWLB) borrowing which supports this
project. While we are able to offset some of these additional costs through our
partnership with the European Investment Bank the increase in the PWLB rate is a
further financial risk.
5.3.10 It will also require the Combined Authority to provide greater headroom in respect of
borrowing cost than is currently the case and this is reflected in the Capital
Programme and Treasury Management sections of this report.
5.3.11 Other transport priorities will include:
i
ii.
iii.
iv.

v
vi

examine the potential benefits and risks associated with the Mayor’s powers
in respect of bus services;
deliver an ambitious programme of investment in transport infrastructure
through the Transforming Cities Programme;
invest in the Mersey Ferries service through the potential provision of new
vessels and associated investment in landing stages;
work with the Bus Alliance to increase patronage across the network by the
promotion of affordable, sustainable and reliable bus services, backed by a
modern, integrated ticketing scheme;
continue to deliver the Long Term Rail Strategy including the progression of
schemes at Headbolt Lane, St James and Liverpool Central; and
continue to work with TfN to demonstrate the value of HS2 and NPR etc.

5.3.12 In order to deliver on these priorities, Merseytravel will receive grants from the
Combined Authority and from the Department for Transport of £205.57m in
2020/21, including Special Rail Grant.

Page 21

5.3.13 Arrangements for Halton will continue to recognise the historical differences in
transport funding and delivery, with Halton subject to a differential transport levy of
£3.2m which will be paid back to Halton for transport delivery within its boundaries
on behalf of the LCRCA.
5.4

TUNNEL TOLLS

5.4.1 Setting the tunnels tolls is a key requirement of the LCRCA’s budget. The
Transport Committee considered a detailed report on the proposed schedule of tolls
at its meeting of the 16th January 2020 and is considering an unchanged schedule
of tolls for, frozen at 2019/20 levels for 2020/21.
Table 7 Agreed Tunnel Tolls 2020/21
Vehicle
Class

1
2
3
4

5.5

Authorised
Toll
(November
RPI)
£2.10
£4.20
£6.30
£8.40

2020/21
Cash Toll

£1.80
£3.60
£5.40
£7.20

2020/21 Fast
Tag Toll –
LCR
Resident*
£1.00
£2.40
£3.60
£4.80

2020/21 Fast
Tag Toll –
Non LCR
Resident
£1.80
£2.40
£3.60
£4.80

ADULT EDUCATION

5.5.1 2019/20 is the first year in which the budget for Adult Education has been devolved
to the CA. As such, the budget for 2020/21 needs to reflect Adult Education spend
and commitments.
5.5.2 The total allocation of funding that will be passed to the City Region is unknown and
pending government announcement. For the purposes of setting a budget, it is
assumed that the settlement will be unchanged from 2019/20 and that any
variations will increase or decrease the amount available for dispersal and will not
impact on the CA’s overall financial position.
5.5.3 Of this allocation, 57% will be dispersed as grant funded allocations and 33% will be
contracted services including test and learn pilots. In common with the risk-based
approach taken in 2019/20, of the balance over £4m will be retained as a
contingency for any growth in year with management and administration costs being
funded by a 2% top slice of the allocation.
5.5.4 The priority areas for AEB in 2020/21 will be:

the extension of the place-based approach to Adult and Community
Learning;

supporting Level 3 learning for priority parts of the community – including
those impacted by recent redundancy;

introducing an enhanced digital skills entitlement; and

Page 22



continuing to test and learn through pilots with an emphasis on flexible
delivery and construction in 2020/21.

6.

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

6.1

The Combined Authority receives capital grant in respect of the Local Growth Fund

(LGF) programme, devolution monies received from central government (Gain
Share funding) and direct transport related grants. The LCRCA’s operates a Single
Pot for the capital funds for which it is a recipient. For 2020/21 the annual
allocations into the single pot are as follows:
Table 8 Capital Funding Grant Allocations 2020/21
2020/21
£’000
54,798
34,658
18,000
40,000
26,500
173,956

LGF 1
LGF 2
LGF 3
Gain Share Capital
Transforming Cities
Transport Funding
Total Annual Allocation

6.2

The table below summarises the Authority’s capital programme for 2020/21
including Merseytravel spend. A more detailed scheme based analysis is attached
to this report at Appendix 3.
Table 9 Projected Capital Spend 2020/21
2020/21
£’m
Capital Expenditure
LGF 1 Schemes
LGF 2 Schemes
LGF 3 Schemes
Gain Share Schemes
Loans
Transforming Cities
Transport Single Pot
Rolling Stock
Other Merseytravel Capital
Schemes
TOTAL

6.3

13,407
11,674
15,832
78,353
12,738
48,826
26,500
125,122
13,520
345,972

2020/21 will see the first of the new fleet of rolling stock in service on the Merseyrail
Network. This is the largest capital programme currently in delivery across the City
Region and the largest ever undertaken by Merseytravel.

Page 23

6.4

The elements of the programme that are directly controlled and contracted for by
the CA are the rolling stock itself, new depot facilities on the site of the original
Kirkdale depot and enhancements to wifi connectivity.

6.5

These elements of the programme remain broadly on target for both delivery and
cost. Depot construction is complete and the first units of rolling stock are already
complete and in test awaiting formal handover.

6.6

Where the project has encountered difficulties however is in its various interfaces
with Network Rail. In a number of significant areas, including changes to platform
height and length and upgrades to power supplies Network Rail have passed on
significant additional expenditure which the CA has been forced to incur.

6.7

These infrastructure works, required from Network Rail, were considered to be a
financial and delivery risk at the onset of the project and as such, a risk provision
was made in the initial capital allocation. Unfortunately, the scale of Network Rail
additional costs has greatly exceeded the value of the risk contingency and the CA
will need to recognise a potential additional capital allocation for the project of up to
£50m.

6.8

These additional costs and works will occur over the next 18 months to two years.
Officers are currently working with Network Rail to identify options to mitigate costs
and reduce the overall quantum of any additional costs. In addition Officers will also
endeavour to mitigate the need for additional borrowing, looking at options to apply
external funding for specific activities such as connectivity and batteries.

6.9

The Treasury Management Strategy appended to this report reflects this increase in
the overall borrowing requirement.

7.0

TRANSPORT SINGLE CAPITAL POT ALOCATION

7.1

Whilst part of the single capital allocation the Combined Authority has agreed to
managed the transport capital pot outside of the main SIF assurance framework
process for the period through to 2020/21. The advantage of this approach has
been to allow a lighter tough approach recognising that many smaller scale but
strategically important measures, such as road safety schemes, would not lend
themselves to complex business case development. This approach has also
provided freedoms and a degree of certainty for partners to plan budgets locally.

7.2

Historically a significant proportion of the transport has been allocated based on a
historic formula allocation however there is an increasing acceptance that there is a
need for a more evidence led approach to allocation to support the findings of
Highways Infrastructure Asset Management Plan (HIAMP) for the Key Route
Network.

7.3

A fundamental issue concerns the modest size of the Transport Pot as demand
usually exceeds the level of funding available. The HIAMP identifies a need for an
annual budget of £19m to maintain the desired lifecycle at steady state over 5
years, once the maintenance need has been arrested, with current backlog of
£59m. The proposal to enhance the size of the pot available for KRN maintenance

Page 24

would require an injection of additional funds from the SIF which would require an
application and separate approval in accordance with the SIF assurance framework.
7.4

Pending a SIF submission for additional funding it is proposed that the current pot is
allocated as follows for 2020/21.
Table 10 Proposed Allocation of Single Transport Pot

Halton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St Helens
Sefton
Wirral
Sub Total
Retained for KRN
Retained by CA
Mayoral Priorities
Evidence
Bus Alliance
Rail
Total

Highways
Maintenance
£’000
1,449
1,205
2,742
1,573
1,882
2,149
11,000
5,500

8.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

8.1

Human Resources

16,500

Integrated
Transport
£’000

Total
£’000

460
530
1,740
640
990
1,150
5,510

1,909
1,735
4,482
2,213
2,872
3,299
16,510
5,500

2,500
1,000
500
500
10,010

2,500
1,000
500
500
26,510

None as a direct result of this report.
8.2

Physical Assets
This report will provide resources to Merseytravel to undertake its asset
management function in respect of the Mersey Tunnels and other LCRCA assets.
The Single Transport / Highways allocation will enable highways authorities to
provide necessary maintenance and management of the City Region’s highways
infrastructure and in particular, the Key Route Network.

8.3

Information Technology
None as a direct result of this report.

9.

RISKS AND MITIGATION
None as a direct result of this report.

Page 25

10.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS
Members are reminded that under Public Sector Equality Duty, the Combined
Authority has a duty to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and
foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not. Whilst the level of detail contained within this budget does not
lend itself to a full appraisal of the operational implications with respect to equality
and diversity, it is possible that there could be resultant implications for people who
share a protected characteristic, for example older disabled people.
Therefore whilst there are no issues with the budget itself, any actions undertaken
as part of the management of any savings, the equalities consequences will be fully
appraised and considered as part of the process, and any negative implications for
any of the protected characteristics will be mitigated, where possible, subject to
available resources.

11.

COMMUNICATION ISSUES
None as a direct result of this report.

12.

CONCLUSION

12.1

The Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority is recommending a series
of measures within its overall budget for 2020/21. These measures each recognise
the need to deliver the functions of the Mayoral Combined Authority while seeking
to protect households in the City Region from additional financial burdens wherever
possible.

JOHN FOGARTY
Director of Corporate Services

Contact Officers:Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance (0151 330 1015)
Ben O’Brien, Head of Communications, Engagement and Marketing (07966 674 053)

Appendices
Appendix 1 LCRCA Treasury Management Strategy
Appendix 2 LCRCA Capital Strategy
Appendix 3 Capital Programme 2020/21

Page 26

APPENDIX ONE
COMBINED AUTHORITY TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT,
MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT
STRATEGY 2020/21

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Authority is required to operate a balanced budget which broadly means that
expenditure incurred during the year will be met through cash raised during the
year. Part of the treasury management operation is to ensure that cash flow is
adequately planned, with cash available when it is needed. Surplus monies are
invested in counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Authority’s low
risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment
return.

1.2

The second main function of the Authority’s treasury management activities is the
funding of its capital plans. The capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need
of the Authority, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the
Authority can meet its capital spend obligations. The management of longer term
cash may involve arranging long or short term loans or using longer term cash flow
surpluses. On occasions, when it is prudent and economic, any debt previously
drawn may be restructured to meet cost or risk objectives.

1.3

The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Authority is critical
as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to
meet spending commitments as they fall due; either on day to day revenue or for
larger capital projects. The treasury operations will see a balance of the interest
cost of debt and the investment income arising from cash deposits affecting the
available budget. Since cash balances generally result from reserves and balances,
it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested as a loss of
principal will in effect result in a loss to General Fund Balance.

1.4

Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activity, arising
usually from capital expenditure, and are separate from the day to day treasury
management activities.
CIPFA defines treasury management as:
“The management of the Authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance
consistent with those risks.”
Reporting Requirements

1.5

The CIPFA Prudential and Treasury Management Codes (revised 2017) detail the
reporting requirements for the Authority. From a treasury perspective, the Authority
is required to receive and approve as a minimum, three main reports each year,

Page 27

which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals. These can be
summarised as:





1.6

An annual treasury management strategy and prudential and treasury indicators
- the capital plans, (including prudential indicators);
- a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital
expenditure is charged to revenue over time)
- the treasury management strategy, (how the investments and borrowings are
to be organised), including treasury indicators; and
- an investment strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to be
managed).
A mid-year treasury management report providing an update on progress of the
capital position and amending treasury and prudential indicators if required; and
An outturn treasury report detailing the outturn position and comparing
performance against estimates included within the strategy.

In addition to the treasury reporting requirements, the CIPFA 2017 Prudential and
Treasury Management Codes require all Authorities to prepare a capital strategy
report which will cover the following:




a high level, long terms overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services;
an overview of how the associated risk is managed; and
the implications for future financial sustainability.
The aim of the capital strategy is to ensure that all Members of the Authority fully
understand the overall long term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy
requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite.

1.7

The capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management
Statement, with non-treasury investments being reported through the former. The
rationale for the separate reporting is to ensure there is a separation of the core
treasury function with the focus on security, liquidity and yield principles and the
non-treasury investments which are driven by expenditure on an investment with
the intended purpose of generating a return. The capital strategy will show:








The corporate governance arrangements in place for non-treasury investments;
Any service objectives relating to these type of activities;
The expected income, costs and resulting contributions;
The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs;
The pay back period (MRP Policy);
For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value; and
The risks associated with each activity.

Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21
1.8

The Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21 covers two main areas:


Capital issues

Page 28

-

the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators;
the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy.


-

Treasury management issues
the current treasury position;
treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Authority;
prospects for interest rates;
the borrowing strategy;
policy on borrowing in advance of need;
debt rescheduling;
the investment strategy;
creditworthiness policy; and
the policy on use of external service providers.

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the
CIPFA Prudential Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management
Code and MHCLG Investment Guidance.
1.9

The Authority uses Link Asset Services as its external treasury management
advisors. The Authority recognises that responsibility for treasury management
decisions remains with the organisation and seeks to ensure that undue reliance is
not placed upon external service providers. All decisions will be undertaken with
regards to all available information, including, but not solely, our treasury advisors.
The Authority recognises that there is value in employing external providers of
treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and
resources. The Authority will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the
methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and
documented, and subjected to regular review.

2.

THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2020/21-2022/23

2.1

Capital Expenditure

2.1.1 The Authority’s capital expenditure plans are a key driver of its treasury
management activity and the output of these plans are reflected in the Prudential
Indicators. The prudential indicators are designed to assist members’ overview and
confirm capital expenditure plans.
The table overleaf summarises the Authority’s capital expenditure plans for the
current financial year and the three subsequent years, together with the proposed
sources of financing.

Page 29

Combined
Authority
Group capital spend
Commercial activities/
non-financial
investments
Total Capital Spend
Funded by:
Capital Grants
Other Contributions
Borrowing

2019/20
Estimated
Outturn
£m
274.00

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

£m
333.23

£m
191.62

£m
128.48

6.01

12.74

7.76

-

280.01

345.97

199.38

128.48

(102.98)
(7.5)
(169.53)

(172.98)
(7.5)
(165.49)

(80.50)
(7.5)
(111.38)

(65.00)
(7.1)
(56.38)

(1) A breakdown of the Merseytravel and Combined Authority capital spend is shown in the main body of the
budget report

2.1.2 To the extent that the overall quantum of the programme detailed above increases
and cannot be funded through other grants or reserves, this would result in an
increase to the overall requirement to borrow.
2.1.3 In line with the Authority’s SIF strategy, funding can be provided to sponsors in a
variety of formats: be that grant, loan or equity. To date, the Authority has approved
4 separate repayable instruments on a mixture of commercial and sub commercial
rates. Each project has been subject to a detailed viability assessment and
modelling. Current proposals for non financial investments are such that for the
period through to 2023, all activity will be funded by the Authority’s devolution
funding and therefore should not require the Authority to undertake any borrowing to
support these activities. Whilst these loans are funded by grant and not borrowing,
there does remain a risk that the Authority will not recover the full value of its
investment which would reduce the value of recyclable funds available for
reinvestment. In accordance with accounting standards these loans will be subject
to an expected credit loss assessment, and to the extent that there is an
impairment, this will be reported and accounted for accordingly.
2.1.4 During 2019/20, Growing Places funding, together with several legacy loans
novated to the Combined Authority. In addition the Authority was successful in
obtaining European funding for the establishment of an Urban Development Fund.
Both sources of grant funding have been provided for the purpose of making loans
to organisations and providing a recyclable facility to fund schemes, which will help
increase commercial floor space and high quality accommodation within the City
Region.
2.2

The Authority’s Borrowing Need (Capital Financing Requirement)

2.2.1 The second prudential indicator is the Authority’s Capital Financing Requirement
(CFR). The CFR represents the historic outstanding capital expenditure that has not
yet been paid for either through revenue or capital resources and therefore a
measure of the Authority’s indebtedness and underlying need to borrow.

Page 30

2.2.2 To the extent that the Authority undertakes capital expenditure for which there are
immediately available capital or revenue resources, this will increase the CFR. The
CFR does not, however, increase indefinitely as the MRP is a statutory annual
charge which broadly reduces indebtedness in line with each assets life.
2.2.3 The Authority is asked to approve the CFR projections below.

Opening CFR
CFR Services
CFR
Commercial
Activity
Total Increase in CFR
Less: MRP
Net Movement in CFR
Closing CFR

2019/20
Estimated
Outturn
£m
288.94
169.53
-

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

£m
450.59
165.49
-

£m
603.08
111.38
-

£m
692.79
56.38
-

165.49
(13.00)
152.49
603.08

111.38
(21.67)
89.71
692.79

56.38
(21.37)
35.01
727.80

169.53
(7.88)
161.65
450.59

2.2.4 As detailed at 2.1.4, there are currently no plans to utilise borrowing to support
commercial or non financial investments, however this position may change in the
future. This will be kept under review and future treasury strategies updated
accordingly.

2.3

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement

2.3.1 The Authority is required to make provision for the repayment of an element of the
accumulated capital spend each year through a charge to revenue (the Minimum
Revenue Provision – MRP) however should the Authority wish it is also allowed to
undertaken additional voluntary payments if required (Voluntary Revenue Provision
– VRP).
2.3.2 The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG)
regulations have been issued which require the full Authority to approve an MRP
statement in advance of the year. Under the guidance a number of options are
available however the Authority does have some discretion over the approach taken
however the overriding requirement is that any approach must be prudent.
2.3.3 Based on the regulations, the Authority is recommended to approve the following
MRP statement for application in 2020/21:


For historic capital expenditure (i.e. that incurred before 2008), MRP will
continue to be calculated at 4% of the previous year end’s Capital Financing
Requirement (option 2 under the MHCLG guidance); and
For any new borrowing undertaken (from 1 April 2008), MRP will be
calculated using the asset life method (options 3 under the MHCLG
guidance).

2.3.4 As noted above, the regulations allow for an Authority to review and revise its MRP
statement at any stage, providing that the overriding requirement that the resulting

Page 31

approach is prudent. To this end the Authority may revisit the above policy should it
be determined that other prudent options are available.
2.4

Borrowing

2.4.1 The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2.1 provide details of the service
activity of the Authority. The treasury management function ensures that the
Authority’s cash is organised in accordance with professional codes, so that
sufficient cash is available to meet the service activity and its capital strategy. This
will involve organising cash flows and appropriate borrowing facilities as necessary.
The table below details the projected overall treasury management portfolio as at 31
March 2020.
As at
06/01/20

As at
06/01/20
%

As at
31/03/20
£’000

As at
31/03/20
%

£’000
Treasury Investments
Banks
Local Authorities
Total Treasury Investments
Loans
PWLB
European Investment Bank
Transferred Debt
Total External Borrowing
Net Treasury Investments/
(Borrowing)

333,357
65,000
398,357

83.6%
16.4%

137,923
41,000
178,923

77.1%
22.9%

161,008
190,000
14,874
365,882
32,475

44.0%
52.0%
4.0%

156,872
186,885
13,730
357,487
(178,564)

44.0%
52.0%
4.0%

2.4.2 The table below provide an analysis of the Authority’s outstanding debt as at 31
March 2020.
Outstanding Debt as at 31 March
2020
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) EIP
Loans
PWLB Annuity Loans
PWLB Maturity Loans
European Investment Bank
Transferred Debt
Total

Principal
£m
57.866

Average Rate
%
6.59

45.696
53.311
186,885
13,730
357,487

8.35
4.49
1.521
4.78

2.4.3 The Authority’s projections for borrowing are summarised below showing actual
external debt against the underlying capital borrowing need (the CFR) highlighting
any under or over borrowing.

Page 32

External Debt

External and Transferred Debt 1
April
Forecast Change in Debt
Gross Debt 31 March
Capital Financing Requirement
(Under)/ Over Borrowing

2019/20
Estimate
£m
181.06

2020/21
Estimate
£m
357.49

2021/22
Estimate
£m
340.44

2022/23
Estimate
£m
323.39

176.43
357.49
450.59
(93.10)

(17.05)
340.44
603.08
(262.64)

(17.05)
323.39
692.79
(369.40)

(17.05)
306.34
727.80
(421.46)

2.4.4 Within the range of prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to
ensure that the Authority operates its activities within well defined limits. One of
these is that the Authority needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in
the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates
of any additional CFR for 2020/21 and the following two financial years. This allows
some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that
borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.
2.4.5 The Director of Corporate Services reports that the Authority complied with this
prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the
future. This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans and the
proposals contained within the budget report.
Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity
2.4.6 The Operational Boundary is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally
expected to exceed. Ordinarily this would be a figure commensurate with the CFR
however this may be lower or higher depending on the Authority’s levels of actual
debt and its ability to fund under borrowing by other cash resources. The table
below summarises estimated operational boundary for the current and subsequent
three years.

Debt
Other Long Term Liabilities
Commercial Activities
Total

2019/20
Forecast
£’m
422.66
422.66

2020/21
Estimate
£’m
524.29
524.29

2021/22
Estimate
£’m
581.97
581.97

2022/23
Estimate
£’m
601.36
601.36

2.4.7 The Authorised Limit for external debt represents the legal limit beyond which
external debt is prohibited. The limit for this key prudential indicator is set by the
Authority and therefore any changes to this limit must be agreed by the Authority
also. The Authorised Limit reflects the level of external debt which, whilst not
desirable or sustainable over the longer term, could be afforded in the short term.
1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either the
total of all Authorities plans, or those of a specific Authority, although this power
has not yet been exercised.

Page 33

2. The Authority is asked to approve the following authorised limit:

Debt
Other Long Term Liabilities
Commercial Activities
Total

2019/20
Forecast
£’m
450.59
450.59

2020/21
Estimate
£’m
603.08
603.08

2021/22
Estimate
£’m
692.79
692.79

2022/23
Estimate
£’m
727.80
727.80

Prospects for Interest Rates
2.4.8 The Authority has appointed Link Asset Services as its treasury advisors and part of
their service is to assist the Authority to formulate a view on interest rates. The table
below provides an overview of Link Asset Service’s view of interest rates.

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View
Dec-19

Mar-20

Jun-20

Sep-20

Dec-20

Mar-21

Jun-21

Sep-21

Dec-21

Mar-22

Bank Rate View

0.75

0.75

0.75

0.75

0.75

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.25

1.25

1.25

1.25

3 Month LIBID

0.70

0.70

0.70

0.80

0.90

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.10

1.20

1.30

1.30

1.30

1.30

6 Month LIBID

0.80

0.80

0.80

0.90

1.00

1.10

1.10

1.20

1.30

1.40

1.50

1.50

1.50

1.50

12 Month LIBID

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.10

1.20

1.30

1.30

1.40

1.50

1.60

1.70

1.70

1.70

1.70

5yr PWLB Rate

2.30

2.40

2.40

2.50

2.50

2.60

2.70

2.80

2.90

2.90

3.00

3.10

3.20

3.20

10yr PWLB Rate

2.60

2.70

2.70

2.70

2.80

2.90

3.00

3.10

3.20

3.20

3.30

3.30

3.40

3.50

25yr PWLB Rate

3.20

3.30

3.40

3.40

3.50

3.60

3.70

3.70

3.80

3.90

4.00

4.00

4.10

4.10

50yr PWLB Rate

3.10

3.20

3.30

3.30

3.40

3.50

3.60

3.60

3.70

3.80

3.90

3.90

4.00

4.00

Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23

2.4.9 The above forecasts have been based on an assumption that there is an agreed
deal on Brexit, including agreement on the terms of trade between the UK an EU, at
some point in time. The result of the general election has removed much
uncertainty around this major assumption. However, it does not remove uncertainty
around whether agreement can be reached with the EU on a trade deal within the
short time to December 2020, as the prime minister has pledged.
2.4.10 The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) has left the Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75%
in 2019 due to the ongoing uncertainty over Brexit and the outcome of the general
election. In its meeting on 7 November, the MPC became more dovish due to
increased concerns over the outlook for the domestic economy if Brexit
uncertainties were to become more entrenched, and for weak global economic
growth: if those uncertainties were to materialise, then the MPC were likely to cut
the Bank Rate. However, if they were both to dissipate, then rates would need to
rise at a ‘gradual pace and to a limited extent’. Brexit uncertainty has had a
dampening effect on UK GDP growth in 2019, especially around mid-year. There is
still some residual risk that the MPC could cut the Bank Rate as the UK economy is
still likely to only grow weakly in 2020 due to continuing uncertainty over whether
there could effectively be a no deal Brexit in December 2020 if agreement on a
trade deal is not reached with the EU. Until that major uncertainty is removed, or
the period for agreeing a deal is extended, it is unlikely that the MPC would raise
the Bank Rate.

Page 34

2.4.11 PWLB rates are subject to ad hoc decisions by H.M Treasury to change the margin
over gilt yields charged in PWLB rates: such changes could be up or down. It is not
clear that if gilt yields were to rise back up again by over 100bps within the next
year or so, whether HM Treasury would remove the extra 100 bps margin
implemented on 9 October 2019.
Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many influences
weighing on UK gilt yields and PWLB rates. The above forecasts (and MPC
decisions), will be liable to further amendments depending on how economic data
and developments in financial markets transpire over the next year. Geopolitical
developments, especially in the EU, could also have a major impact. Forecasts for
average investment earnings beyond the three-year horizon will be heavily
dependent on economic and political developments.
2.4.12 Based on the above, the impact on investment and borrowing rates is likely to be as
follows:






Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2020/21 with little increase
in the following two years. However, if major progress was made with an
agreed Brexit,then there is upside potential for earnings;
Borrowing interest rates were on a major falling trend during the first half of
2019/20 but then increased by 100 bps on 9 October 2019. The policy of
avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served
local authorities well over the last few years. However the unexpected
increase of 100bps in PWLB rates requires a major rethink of authority
treasury management strategy and risk management.
The Authority will not be able to avoid borrowing to finance new capital
expenditure (rolling stock fleet), there will be a cost of carry, to any new long
term borrowing that causes an increase in cash balances as this position will
most likely incur a revenue cost.

Borrowing Strategy
2.4.13 The Authority currently has an under borrowed position, which means that the CFR,
the underlying need to borrow, has not been fully funded by loan debt as cash
supporting the Authority’s balances and reserves have been used as a temporary
measure. The authority borrowed £190 million from the European Investment Bank
in December 2019 to support the rolling stock programme, given the quantum of the
capital programme over the next three years, there is likely to be an absolute need
to borrow additional funds at some point. Moreover the longer term forecast for
interest rates is to increase and therefore consideration must be given to weighting
the short term advantage of internal borrowing against potential long term costs.
This is if the opportunity is missed for taking loans at longer term rates where the
rates are expected to be higher in future years.
2.4.14 Whilst investment returns remain subdued and a relative dearth of high quality
counterparties remains an issue, the strategy of utilising cash balances is
considered prudent. Against this backgound, the Director of Corporate Services will
monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to

Page 35

changing circumstances and satisfying the need to borrow, seeking to identify the
options that are available and provide value for money for the Authority.




If it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing
rates, (e.g. due to a markers increase of risks around relapse into recession
or of risks of deflation), the borrowing will be postponed.
If it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in
borrowing rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an
acceleration on the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an
increase in world economic activity, or a sudden increase in inflation risks,
then the portfolio position will be re-appraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding
will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in
the next few years.

Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the next
available opportunity.
Policy on borrowing in advance of need
2.4.15 The Authority will not borrow more than or in advance of need purely to profit from
the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will
be forward approved within the Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will
be considered carefully to ensure value for money can be demonstrated and
security of funds evidenced. Risks associated with borrowing in advance of need
will be subject to prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or
annual reporting mechanism.
Debt Rescheduling
2.4.16 The Authority will monitor opportunities to generate savings through debt
rescheduling activity, however any savings that could be generated would need to
be considered in light of the current treasury position and the size of any potential
premiums payable on early redemption of debt. Reasons for debt rescheduling will
include:




The generation of cash savings or discounted cash flow savings;
Helping fulfil the treasury strategy; or
Enhancing the balance of the portfolio (maturity profile or balance of volatility).

Consideration will also be given to identify if there are residual potential for making
short term savings by running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely
as short term rates on investments are likely to be lower than rates paid on current
debt.
Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as the
100 bps increase in PWLB rates only applied to new borrowing rates and not to
premature debt repayment rates.
If rescheduling was done, it will be reported to the Authority, at the earliest meeting
following its action.

Page 36

2.5

New financial institutions as a source of borrowing and types of borrowing

2.5.1 Following the decision by the PWLB on 9 October 2019 to increase their margin
over gilt yields by 100 bps to 180 basis points on loans lent to authorities,
consideration will also need to be given to sourcing funding at cheaper rates from
the following:



2.6

Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities)
Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds but
also some banks)
Municipal Bonds Agency (no issuance at present but there is potential)

Approved Sources of Long and Short term Borrowing

2.6.1 Whilst in practice the Authority will tend to draw its substantive borrowing
requirement through the PWLB, it also has access to a number of other sources of
fixed and variable funding as detailed below.
On Balance Sheet
PWLB
Municipal bond agency
Local authorities
Banks
Pension funds
Insurance companies

Fixed

Market (long-term)
Market (temporary)
Market (LOBOs)
Stock issues
Local temporary
Local Bonds
Local authority bills
Overdraft
Negotiable Bonds
Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances)
Commercial Paper
Medium Term Notes
Finance leases

2.7



















Variable



















Annual Investment Strategy

2.7.1 In conducting its investment activity, the Authority will have regard to the MHCLG’s
Guidance on Local Government Investments and the 2017 revised CIPFA Treasury
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance
Notes (the CIPFA TM Code). The Authority’s overriding investment priorities are the
security of capital and liquidity of investments.

Page 37

2.7.2 Whilst MHCGL and CIFPA have extended the meaning of investments to include
both financial and non-financial investments, the Annual Investment Strategy as
detailed below deals solely with the financial (treasury) investments. Non-financial
investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are covered within
the Capital Strategy.
2.7.3 The Authority will seek to obtain the optimum return on its investments
commensurate with the desired level of security and liquidity. Risk appetite is low
with investment decisions giving priority to security of investments. The Authority
does not borrow purely to invest or on-lend to make a return.
2.7.4 The Authority has a clearly stipulated minimum acceptable level of credit quality of
Counterparties which feeds into its Counterparty lending list. The creditworthiness
methodology used to create the Authority’s list takes account of the ratings provided
by FITCH and/ or Moodys, two of the three main ratings agencies. All investments
made during 2020/21 will be made in accordance with the Annual Investment
Strategy detailed in Appendix Two.
Appendices:Annex One – Outlook for Interest Rates
Annex Two – Annual Investment Strategy 2020/21
Annex Three – Treasury Management Limits and Prudential Indicators 2019/20 to 2020/21
Annex Four – Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation
Annex Five – The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151/ 73 Officer

Page 38

ANNEX ONE
OUTLOOK FOR INTEREST RATES
Bank Rate
Link Asset Services

Now
0.75%

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23
0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25%

Capital Economics

0.75%

0.75%

0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75%

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5yr PWLB Rate
Now

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23

2.37%
2.37%

2.30%
2.30%

Now
2.57%
2.57%

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23
2.60% 2.70% 2.70% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50%
2.60% 2.60% 2.70% 2.80% 2.80%
-

Now
3.12%
3.12%

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23
3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.40% 3.50% 3.60% 3.70% 3.70% 3.80% 3.90% 4.00% 4.00% 4.10% 4.10%
3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30%
-

Link Asset Services

Now
2.94%

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23
3.10% 3.20% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.60% 3.60% 3.70% 3.80% 3.90% 3.90% 4.00% 4.00%

Capital Economics

2.94%

3.00%

Link Asset Services
Capital Economics

2.40% 2.40% 2.50% 2.50% 2.60% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20%
2.40% 2.50% 2.50% 2.60%
-

10yr PWLB Rate
Link Asset Services
Capital Economics
25yr PWLB Rate
Link Asset Services
Capital Economics
50yr PWLB Rate

3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20%

-

-

-

-

-

-

The rates shown above take account of the 20 base point certainty rate reduction

Page 39

-

-

ANNEX TWO
ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2020/21
The purpose of this Strategy is to set out, for approval by the Authority, is to outline:








The Authority’s overriding investment objectives;
The investments the Authority will use for the prudent management of
surplus funds during the financial year 2020/21 and the management of risk
The procedures for determining the use of each asset class;
The maximum periods for which funds may be prudently committed in each
class;
The upper limits to be invested in each class;
The extent to which prior professional advice needs to be sought from the
Authority’s Treasury Advisors prior to use; and
The minimum amount to be held in short term investments.

Investment Objectives
The Authority’s investment decisions are governed by the need to ensure that all
decisions are prudent and ensure the security of capital and liquidity of investments
are paramount.
The Authority will seek to ensure an optimum return on the investment of all surplus
funds commensurate with the required levels of liquidity and security, having
properly assessed the inherent risk associated with different investment options.
The Authority will not engage in treasury borrowing activity solely for the purpose of
investment or on-lending to make a return.
Investment policy – management of risk
The guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the
management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing
risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means:
1. Credit Criteria
A minimum acceptable credit criteria is applied in order to generate a list of
highly creditworthy counterparties. This enables diversification and this
avoidance of concentration of risk. The key ratings used to monitor
counterparties are the short term and long term ratings
2. Other information
Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution, it is
important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a
micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political
environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will also take
account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To achieve
this consideration the Authority will engage with its advisors to maintain a

Page 40

monitor on market pricing such as ‘credit default swaps’ and overlay that
information on top of the ratings.
3. Other information sources
The Authority will pay consideration to other information sources such as the
financial press, share price and other such information pertaining to the
financial sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny process on the
suitability of potential investment counterparties.
4. Types of investment instruments
The Authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the
treasury management team are authorised to use. There are two lists in
Annex 2.1 under the categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’
investments.
- Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality
and subject to a maturity limit of one year
- Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality,
may be for periods in excess of one year and/or are more complex
instruments which require greater consideration by members and
officers before being authorised for use. Once an investments is
classed as non-specified, it remains non-specified all the way through
to maturity i.e. an 18 month deposit would still be non-specified even if
it has only 11 months left until maturity.
The table attached as Annex 2.1 provides further guidance on Specified and Non
Specified investments.

5. Non-specified investments limits. The Authority has determined that it
will limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments as
being 40% of the total investment portfolio
6. Lending limits, amounts and maturity, for each counterparty will be set
through applying the matrix table in Annex 2.2.
7. Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in Annex 2.2
8. Sovereign ratings Investments will only be placed with counterparties
from countries with a specified minimum sovereign rating
9. The authority will set a limit for the amount of investments which are
invested for longer than 365 days
10. External Consultants The authority has engaged external consultants to
provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of
security, liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of the authority in the
context of the expected level of cash balances and need for liquidity
throughout the year.

Page 41

11. All investments will be denominated in sterling.
12. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2019/20 under IFRS
9, the Authority will consider the implications of investment instruments
which could result in an adverse movement in the value of the amount
invested and resultant charges at the end of the year.
The Authority will pursue value for money in treasury management and will monitor
the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investment
performance. Regular monitoring of investment performance will be carried out
during the year.
Creditworthiness Policy and Liquidity
The Authority relies on credit ratings published by FITCH or Moody’s two
independent rating agencies to establish the credit quality of Counterparties. Credit
ratings are reviewed on an ongoing basis to ensure that prompt action can be taken
to remove institutions whose ratings fall below the minimum threshold applied by
the Authority. The proposed Counterparty criteria is appended to this report at
Annex 2
Within the framework detailed in Annex 2, it is proposed that at any one time up to
20% of investments will be retained in liquid instant access/ call accounts to ensure
that there is adequate liquidity maintained to deal with unforeseen eventualities.
Investment Strategy – Internally and Externally Managed Funds
All investments managed internally will be undertaken in compliance with the
framework outlined in this document. Due regard will be had to the wider cash flow
movements and requirements of the Authority and forecast movement in interest
rates. As detailed above the Authority will ensure that adequate funds are held as
cash equivalents thereby allowing the Authority to address any unforeseen cash
requirements or to take advantage of investment opportunities as they arise.
The Authority will seek to lock into fixed term deals (within the limits outlined in the
counterparty criteria) at advantageous rates subject to the outlook for interest rates
and the availability of such opportunities with high quality counterparties.
Currently the Authority does not engage any external Fund Managers to invest
monies on its behalf, however this position will be periodically reviewed to establish
whether this option provides any opportunities for diversification. Any such
consideration will be made in conjunction with the Authority’s treasury advisors and
subject approval by the Director of Corporate Services.
Policy on the use of External Service Providers
The Authority uses Link Asset Services as its external treasury management
advisors. Whilst the responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with
the Authority, the value in employing an external treasury provider is recognised as
means by which it can acquire access to specialist skills and resources.
Notwithstanding this the Authority will ensure that there is no undue reliance on an
external service provider.

Page 42

Reporting Arrangements
The Authority will receive reports on Treasury Management activity as a minimum
at three points during the year: a forward looking strategy will be submitted for
approval, a mid- year Strategy review and a year- end report which will consider
outturn performance in light of the strategy set at the start of the year.

Page 43

ANNEX 2.1
SPECIFIED AND NON SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS
Table 1 Specified Investments
Investments
Term deposits- UK banks and
building societies
Term deposits – UK Government
or Local Authorities
Call Account Facilities
Notice Account Facilities
Term Deposits – non UK banks
and building societies
Debt Management Agency
Deposit Facility
Certificates of Deposit
Treasury Bills
Money Market Funds

Minimum Credit
Rating
See Annex 2.2

Use

High security although
few local authorities
are credit rated
See Annex 2.2
See Annex 2.2
See Annex 2.2

In house

UK Government
backed
See Annex 2.2
UK Government
backed
AAA

In house

In house

In house
In house
In house

In house
In house
In house

All Specified Investments must be sterling denominated and have maturities of up to 1
year.

Page 44

Table 2 Non Specified Investments
Investments
Term deposits- UK banks and
building societies (exceeding 365
days)
Term deposits – UK Government
or Local Authorities (exceeding
365 days)
Term Deposits – non UK banks
and building societies (exceeding
365 days)
Certificates of Deposits

Minimum Credit
Rating
See Annex 2.2

Use
In house

Maximum
Duration
2 years

High security
although few
local authorities
are credit rated
See Annex 2.2

In house

2 years

In house

2 years

See Annex 2.2

In house – after
consultation
with Treasury
Advisors
In house – after
consultation
with Treasury
Advisors
In house – after
consultation
with Treasury
Advisors
In house – after
consultation
with Treasury
Advisors

2 years

Callable Deposits

See Annex 2.2

Structured Deposits

See Annex 2.2

Forward Deposits

See Annex 2.2

Page 45

2 years

2 years

2 years in
total

ANNEX 2.2
COUNTERPARTY CRITERIA
Counterparty Category
Government Backed
Treasury Bills

Credit Rating
Long
Term
AA Rated

Short
Term

Viability
Rating

Maximum
Investment (£m)

Maximum
Duration

£10m per investment
(£80m in total)

2 years

Sovereign

Local Authorities, other
Public Sector Bodies incl
DMO

AA Rated

£10m per LA, £50m
per LA within the
LCRCA (£150m
total)

2 years

Part Nationalised Banks

See Below *

£70m

2 years

Money Market Funds

AAA Rated

On call

Combined Authority
Main Banker
Authorised institutions
under the Banking Act
1987 which hold suitable
credit ratings

A

12 months

Building Societies

F1/P1 and
above
F1/P1 and
above

AA and
above
AA and
above

A

F1/P1 and
above

AA and
above

A and
above

F1/P1 and
above

AA and
above

£10m per fund
(£40m in total)
Up to a maximum of
£200m
£20m per investment
(£80m total per
institution or up to
£100m for CA Main
Banker)
£10m per investment
(£40m total per
institution)
£10m per investment
(£40m in total)

A- and
above

F1/P1 and
above

AA and
above

£5m per investment
(£20m in total)

A+ and
above

On call
2 years

12 months

12 months

* Although the individual rating for the part nationalised banks fall below the criteria
outlined above, due to the fact that they are part nationalised, as such these institutions
take on the credit rating of the UK Government itself (UK Sovereign Rating) as deposits
are essentially being made with the UK Government itself.

Page 46

ANNEX THREE
THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2019/20 -2021/22
19/20
Forward
Outturn

20/21
Forward
Estimate

21/22 Forward
Estimate

22/23 Forward
Estimate

345.97

199.38

128.48

169.53

165.49

111.38

56.38

Capital Financing
Requirement
(£m)

This is the aggregation of
historic and cumulative
capital expenditure which
has yet to be paid for
through either capital or
revenue resources

450.59

603.08

692.79

727.80

Ratio Financing
Cost to Income
Stream

Identified the impact and
trend of revenue costs of
capital financing decisions
on the revenue budget

16.04%

31.43%

36.66%

31.13%

Net Borrowing
Requirement
(£m)

Represents the net
investments or borrowing
requirement based on the
debt and investments held

178.56

240.44

223.39

206.34

Authorised Limit
for Borrowing
(£m)

Represents the absolute
limit of borrowing that
could be raised and
afforded in the short term
however this is likely to be
unsustainable in the long
term

450.59

603.08

692.79

727.80

Operational Limit
for Borrowing
(£m)

Represents the level
beyond which debt is not
normally expected to
exceed

422.66

524.29

581.97

601.36

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

30.00%

30.00%

30.00%

30.00%

93.10

262.64

369.40

421.46

Indicator

Description

Capital Spend
(£m)

Proposed capital spend to
which the Authority plans
to commit

280.02

In year
Requirement

Additional borrowing
requirement for capital
expenditure

Upper Limit for
Fixed Interest
Rate Exposure
Upper Limit for
Variable Interest
Rate Exposure

Gross Debt and
the CFR (£m)

These limits seek to
ensure that the Authority
does not expose itself to
an inappropriate level of
interest rate risk

This indicator can
highlight where an
authority may be
borrowing in advance of
need

Page 47

ANNEX FOUR
TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION

The Combined Authority



Approves the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement;
Receives a mid year report and an outturn report on Treasury Management activity;

The Director of Corporate Services








Draft and submit to the Combined Authority the Treasury Management Strategy
Statement prior to the start of the financial year;
Implement and monitor these documents,
Draft and submit mid year and outturn reports to the Combined Authority for
approval;
Maintain suitable Treasury Management Practices (TMP’s) setting out the manner
in which the Authority will seek to achieve its objectives. The TMP’s will prescribe
how the treasury activities will be managed and controlled;
Be responsible for the execution and administration of treasury management
decisions; and
Act in accordance with the Council’s Policy Statement and Treasury Management
Practices, and also in accordance with CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice
on Treasury Management

Page 48

ANNEX FIVE
THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTION 151/ 73 OFFICER

The S151 (responsible) officer


recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval,
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance;



submitting regular treasury management policy reports;



submitting budgets and budget variations;



receiving and reviewing management information reports;



reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;



ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;



ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;



recommending the appointment of external service providers;



preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing,
non-financial investments and treasury management, with a long term timeframe;



ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in
the long term and provides value for money;



ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority;



ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on
non-financial assets and their financing;



ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not
undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of
risk compared to its financial resources;



ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval,
monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long
term liabilities;



provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including
material investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees;



ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures
taken on by an authority;



ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally
provided, to carry out the above;



creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non
treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following: o Risk management, including investment and risk management criteria for
any material non-treasury investment portfolios;
o Performance measurement and management, including methodology and
criteria for assessing the performance and success of non-treasury
investments
o Decision making, governance and organisation, including a statement of the
governance requirements for decision making in relation to non-treasury

Page 49

investments; and arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due
diligence is carried out to support decision making.
o Reporting and management information including where and how often
monitoring reports are taken
o Training and qualifications, including how the relevant knowledge and skills
in relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged.

Page 50

APPENDIX TWO

CAPITAL STRATEGY 2020/21

1.0

Purpose

1.0.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) requires all
organisations operating under the Prudential Code for Capital Finance (the
Prudential Code) to produce a capital strategy to demonstrate that capital
expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with organisational
objectives, are affordable, take proper account of stewardship, sustainability, value
for money and prudence. As an organisation that operates under the aegis of the
Prudential Code, the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (the Authority) is
required to produce a capital strategy.
1.0.2 The capital strategy provides a high level overview of how capital expenditure,
capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the achievement of
the Authority’s priorities and service provision. It also provides an overview of how
the associated risks are managed and the implications for future financial stability.
The document provides an overview of the governance processes for approving
and monitoring capital activity.
1.1

Scope

1.1.1 This capital strategy covers all capital expenditure and capital investment decisions
for not only the Authority but also those entered into under group arrangements. As
such this capital strategy applies to Merseytravel and its subsidiary companies.
1.1.2 For expenditure to qualify as capital expenditure and therefore be under the scope
of this document it must be:




1.2

Expenditure that is incurred on the acquisition or creation of a new asset or
expenditure that enhances the life or value of an existing asset in accordance with
relevant account standards;
Expenditure that meets one of the definitions specified in regulation made under the
2003 Local Government Act; or
Expenditure for which a direction has been made by the Secretary of State that
allows the expenditure to be treated as capital.
Liverpool City Region Context

1.2.1 The Combined Authority approved a corporate plan for the period 2018-2020 in
October 2018. The plan is structured around eight priority themes:
Priority One: A dynamic, prosperous, inclusive economy which benefits every part
of the city region;
Priority Two: Jobs, skills and career opportunities for all;

Page 51

Priority Three: A high-speed digital network that connects the whole region to the
world;
Priority Four: A transport network that connects people, goods and Business;
Priority Five: Good quality and affordable housing;
Priority Six: A greener and cleaner place to live;
Priority Seven: A world class culture and visitor experience;
Priority Eight: More decisions taken locally.
1.2.2 Key priorities are underpinned by a vision statement and a series of key
deliverables central to the achievement of the overarching priorities. To help the
Combined Authority deliver it is vital that there is a clear and coherent framework
through which to make capital investment. At the CA level strategic investments will
be driven by the Single Investment Strategy and associated assurance framework
and the Key Route Network asset management plans. At the Merseytravel, key
strategies including the Tunnels, Bus Infrastructure, Ferries and Long Term Rail
Strategies will help inform and shape capital requirements.
1.3

Capital Expenditure

1.3.1 Whilst at the Authority level, most investment interventions are focussed on
supporting its growth strategy and devolution aims, below this level, Merseytravel
which is the strategic transport advisory body and delivery arm, is responsible for
the operation and maintenance of its and the Authority’s major transport assets.
Whilst Merseytravel has recourse to some of its own resources to support
investment, this ability is limited and most requests for funding are channelled up
through the Authority.
1.3.2 The size of the capital programme is influenced by the availability of funding
sources and capital financing costs, including the availability of revenue resources
to support the full implications of capital expenditure; both borrowing costs and
running costs after any grant funding is applied.
1.4

Funding Streams

1.4.1 The Authority’s capital investment decisions can be funded from a number of
sources, the key components of which are detailed below;


Government grants – this is the single largest source of capital funding received
by the Authority. The key government grants received directly by the Authority
include Transforming Cities Funding, transport funding from the Department for
Transport and the Gain Share/ Investment Fund monies received in support of the
Authority’s devolution agreement. The Authority has agreed with government to
have a single pot approach to capital and the funds that form part of the Single Pot
are governed by the Authority’s Single Investment framework. In addition the
Authority acts as the Accountable Body for the Local Growth Funds for which local
agreement has been reached with the LEP whereby these funds for part of the
Single Investment Fund. Merseytravel is not a significant grant recipient in its own

Page 52









1.5

right and therefore grants to Merseytravel will flow via the CA, either as a result of
work commissioned by the CA or as a result of a bid made by Merseytravel against
the SIF.
Prudential borrowing – under the Prudential Code the Authority is permitted to
determine its own borrowing requirement (which includes the need for borrowing
that may exist within Merseytravel), provided the borrowing proposed is affordable,
prudent and cost effective. Whilst the Authority is governed by the Prudential
Framework, in common with all other Mayoral Combined Authorities, the Authority
has agreed a debt cap with HM Treasury which limits the absolute level of
borrowing that can be incurred. Where this type of funding is applied there are
revenue implications in the form of financing cost.
Reserves – both the Combined Authority and Merseytravel have recourse to
specific reserves to support capital investment. Whilst the Authority has significant
reserves that are earmarked for inclusion within the SIF, the current level of
resources is not forecast to increase, rather they are on a downward trajectory as
there has been a significant reliance on reserves to support the Merseytravel capital
programme over the last couple of years and therefore these should be applied
judiciously.
Revenue funding – the Authority is permitted to utilise revenue resources to fund
capital schemes however given the limited availability of revenue funding more
generally for the Authority it is not a significant source of capital funding and would
normally be used to support specific smaller scale initiatives. The only area in which
a significant and sustained use is made of revenue to support capital investment is
in respect of the Mersey Tunnels whereby use of tolls is directed by statute.
Capital receipts – the Authority and Merseytravel are able to generate capital
receipts through the sale of surplus assets, such as land and buildings. The use of
such receipts is governed by statute and therefore must be used for capital
investment, unless capitalisation directives are permitted. Both organisations hold
limited levels of capital receipts and by virtue of the fact that both organisations hold
significant infrastructure asset bases, their capacity to generate new receipts is
constrained. To this end the first call on any capital receipts to support capital
investment are for invest to save initiatives.
Governance Arrangements

1.5.1 The Strategic Investment Fund (SIF) has been established to manage the public
funding that the Combined Authority receives following the devolution agreement
agreed with government in 2015 and the Growth Deal Funds for which agreement
has been reached with the Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership
(LEP) for the Authority to manage these funds.
1.5.2 The Combined Authority’s Strategic Investment Fund Strategy defines and outlines
the Authority’s investment strategy for the SIF, including its principles and priorities,
approval process and fund-recycling model.
1.5.3 The core objective of the Investment Strategy is to ensure that investment made by
the Combined Authority is most effectively targeted at interventions and
opportunities that help deliver its strategic aims and help drive inclusive growth,
social value, tackle market failure maximise value for money and make a financial
return into the SIF.

Page 53

1.5.4 The Investment Strategy clearly details the principles against which the SIF will
operate and the economic sectors in which the region has a competitive advantage
and which will drive future regional success.
1.5.5 Overlaying the Investment Strategy is the SIF Assurance Framework, which has
been designed to meet the requirements of the Single Pot Assurance Guidance
published by MHCLG and managed by HM Government’s Cities & Local Growth
Unit. This documents covers;





The context, scope and purpose of the assurance framework;
the governance structures of the Combined Authority, investment approach and
transparency mechanisms that will apply to decision making;
the decision making procedures for funding; and
the approach to monitoring and evaluation.

1.5.6 The process for making investment decisions through the SIF is as follows:







All projects are developed in conjunction with the Investment Team to ensure they
have a mesh with the Authority’s Investment Strategy;
Projects are subject to development of business case in accordance with HM
Treasury Green Book principles;
An internal panel of senior officers considers projects at outline stage. This group
has a right of veto and may use this to refuse a project should they believe it would
breach SIF governance and/ or run counter to good economic development policy;
Detail diligence will be undertaken on all projects and an external appraisal report
will be completed;
The Investment Panel will conduct interim and final reviews of projects and provide
advice and commentary on the merits of a project to the Combined Authority and if
necessary make recommendations for modifications;
Based on the recommendations of the Investment Panel, projects will be submitted
to the Combined Authority for approval.

1.5.7 Monitoring of delivery and outcomes is managed by the Corporate Programme
Management Office who reports performance through to the Programme Delivery
Board, which is comprised of senior officers within the Combined Authority and the
LEP. Dedicated Finance resource exists to monitor SIF programme on an ongoing
basis and feeds into the reporting rhythm.
1.5.8 Monthly capital monitoring of spend is undertaken and reported through to
Merseytravel and the CA respectively.
1.5.9 Whilst all significant and major capital expenditure plans for the Authority are
channelled through the SIF, Merseytravel separately has a requirement to invest in
and maintain its asset base and the Mersey Tunnels, which it manages and
operates on behalf of the Combined Authority. Maintenance programmes and
investment requirements for Merseytravel assets are determined in parallel with the
service and revenue budget planning process within the framework of the Medium
Term Financial Plan.

Page 54

1.6

Long Term Capital Plans

1.6.1 The table below shows the capital plans for both the Combined Authority and
Merseytravel for the period through to 2022/23.
Combined Authority Investment Plans
2019/20
Revised

2020/21

2022/22

2022/23

Total

£’m

£’m

£’m

£’m

£’m
274,003

333,235

191,628

6,013
280,015

12,738
345,972

7,750
199,378

128,480

26,501
953,845

Borrowing

(169,531)

(165,489)

(111,378)

(56,380)

(502,778)

Capital Grants

(102,984)

(165,489)

(80,500)

(65,000)

(421,467)

(7,500)

(7,500)

(7,500)

(7,100)

(29,600)

(280,015)

(345,972)

(199,378)

(128,480)

(953,845)

Combined Authority capital
plans
Commercial Activities
Total Capital Expenditure
Financed by:

Revenue/ Reserves

Total Funding

124,480

927,344

1.6.2 The table above reflects the Combined Authority’s investment decisions that have
been ratified to December 2019 however there are a number of schemes within the
pipeline at various stages of development. As these pipeline projects progress
through to approval and funding agreement, the programme will be updated.
1.6.3 The main schemes are detailed in the Combined Authority and Merseytravel budget
reports.
1.7

Investments

1.7.1 The Authority may undertake two distinct types of investment; treasury
management investments and service/ commercial investments.
1.7.2 Treasury management investment activity arises as a consequence of managing
the organisation’s cashflows. For these investments, security and liquidity of
investments are the primary considerations when making such decisions, ahead of
any consideration of investment yield generated. Treasury management
investments are governed by the Authority’s Treasury Management Policy and its
Annual Investment Strategy. The Authority’s counterparty criteria provides a
framework against which treasury investments are made. The approach is informed
by the creditworthiness work undertaken by the Authority’s treasury advisors, Link
Asset Services.
1.7.3 Service or commercial investments by contrast are those investments made by an
organisation outside of the day to day treasury management activity which could be
either made in support of service provision, for example economic regeneration or

Page 55

commercial whereby the investments have been undertaken purely for the purpose
of generating financial returns.
1.7.4 There is a regulatory and statutory recognition that organisations may make
investments for policy reasons outside their treasury management activity. To
ensure that all investment decisions are made in a structured an informed manner
with due consideration to both the risks and rewards stemming from that decision,
the CIPFA Treasury Management Code covers both types of investment.
1.7.5 The Authority’s non-treasury investments are primarily aimed at supporting the
organisation’s service objectives and the achievement of its devolution aims and
such investments will naturally flow out of the SIF generated schemes. As stated
above, the core objective of the Investment Strategy is to ensure that investment
made by the Combined Authority is most effectively targeted at interventions and
opportunities that help deliver its strategic aims and help drive inclusive growth,
social value, tackle market failure maximise value for money and make a financial
return into the SIF. To ensure
1.7.6 Whilst investments through the SIF will aim to ensure that there is a positive reflow,
the key driver in these investments is not to generate a financial return to support
the ongoing revenue budget for the Combined Authority but to ensure the continued
viability of the investment fund. As the SIF is funded primarily through grant, it is
pertinent to seek to maximise the benefits arising from investments flowing back to
the Combined Authority thus allowing the fund to be more sustainable over the
longer term.
1.7.7 The Authority’s non-treasury investments will vary in shape, size and structure and
will be tailored for each individual deal. In accordance with the governance
framework outlined above, a significant level of work will be undertaken by the
Investment Team to develop and shape deals and undertake necessary due
diligence which will inform the commercial negotiation and inform the final deal.
1.7.8 As all non-treasury investments will flow through the SIF process, the review, and
scrutiny and ultimately approval process will be in accordance with the SIF
Investment Strategy and SIF Assurance Framework. The governance
arrangements around interventions funded through the SIF are detailed above.
1.8

Treasury Management
Governance

1.8.1 The Combined Authority has adopted the CIPFA Treasury Management in Public
Sector Code of Practice and formally adopted a treasury management policy
statement as part of its annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement, which
was approved by the Combined Authority at its meeting on 2 February 2018.
1.8.2 Under the Local Government Act 2003 local authorities are permitted to determine
their own programmes for capital investment and associated borrowing
requirements, provided they have regard to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital
Financing in Local Authorities.

Page 56

1.8.3 The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure that there is a clear framework
for ensuring capital plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable and that treasury
management decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. In
support of the decision making process the Prudential Code sets out a number of
prudential indicators that should support local decision making with regards to the
Authority’s capital expenditure plans and it is the duty of the Director of Corporate
Services (the Section 73 Officer) to ensure that this information is made available to
support decision making by the Combined Authority. Key issues that should be
considered are:







Affordability;
Prudence;
Value for money;
Stewardship of assets;
Alignment with service objectives; and
Practicality.

1.8.4 The requirements of the Local Government Act 2003 and the Prudential Code apply
equally to the Combined Authority however; there is an additional requirement for
Mayoral Combined Authorities to agree overall debt caps with HM Treasury. As
such there is an additional dynamic for the Authority in considering prudence as any
increases in the absolute need to borrow above the agreed cap, even if still
affordable within the confines of the Prudential Code would, require approval of HM
Treasury.
1.8.5 The Combined Authority retains overall responsibility for review and approval of the
annual Treasury Management Strategy, the midyear report and the outturn report.
Day to day management of the Treasury Management function is delegated to the
Director of Corporate Services. Details of the scheme of delegation are contained
within the Authority’s Treasury Management Practices.
Affordability
1.8.6 Fundamental to any assessment of the affordability of the Combined Authority’s
capital plans is the extent to which the revenue costs associated with servicing new
and existing debt can be sustained within the available budget. A significant
proportion of the Authority’s capital plans relate to strategic investments through the
Strategic Investment Fund which is essentially funded by grant. Whilst the
Authority’s Investment Strategy does not preclude borrowing in support of this
activity, this has not been factored into medium term plans and as such the
requirement to borrow, within the debt cap agreed with HM Treasury focuses on the
servicing of historic transport debt and other strategic investments in support of
transport arising from its role as the Strategic Transport Authority.
Prudence
1.8.7 The Authority is required to make reasonable estimates of total capital expenditure
that it plans to incur for the next and at least the following two years. The Prudential
Code requires the Authority to ensure that all capital expenditure, investment and
borrowing decisions are prudent and affordable and take account of the resources
available to fund such schemes or the implications of borrowing to fund them. The

Page 57

aim is to ensure that requirement to repay borrowing is factored into the overall
consideration of the organisation’s fiscal sustainability.
1.8.8 In respect of the Authority’s external debt, there are two key indicators, which the
Authority is required to complete for the forthcoming and two successive years; the
Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary. The Authorised Boundary represents
the absolute maximum the Authority could borrow and therefore should not be
varied during the year whereas the Operational Boundary should encompass all
anticipated borrowing and in year use and should incorporate sufficient headroom
for the Authority to satisfy in year requirements.
1.8.9 The Authority’s Authorised and Operational Boundaries are detailed below.
2020/21

Authorised Limit
Operational Boundary

£’m
603.08
524.29

2021/22
£’m
592.79
581.97

2022/23
£’m
727.8
601.36

1.8.10 The Authority’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement, which is also forms part
of the overall budget report, details the Authority’s borrowing and financing plans for
its capital programme over the period through to 2022/23, its borrowing limits and
debt repayment strategy. To avoid duplication of content the reader is referred to
Appendix 1 for more detail.
Value for Money
1.8.11 As detailed above a significant proportion of the Authority’s capital programme
relates to the delivery of the strategic investment priorities detailed in the Authority’s
Investment Strategy. All such capital expenditure is incurred on the back of a
rigorous application, assessment and evaluation process as detailed in the Single
Investment Framework. Funding provided through the SIF is essentially gap funding
aimed at supporting strategic interventions. As the assessment and evaluation of all
schemes through the SIF follow the principles of the HM Treasury Green Book,
value for money is integral to the decision making process.
1.9

Skills and Knowledge

1.9.1 The Director of Corporate Services (Section 73 Officer) who is a Qualified
Accountant has overall responsibility for the Authority’s Treasury Management
activity and overall capital programme. The capital programme and treasury
management strategy are managed by Qualified Accountants with specific day to
day delegations to individual members within the Finance Team with extensive
experience within these designated areas. Emphasis is placed on continuing
professional development and staff are encouraged to attend events which help
maintain current knowledge and understanding of sectoral developments.
1.9.2 Commercial investment decisions are led by the Authority’s Investment Team. This
is a multi-disciplinary team with significant experience in financial services and the
structuring of corporate finance. This team also has access to a range of specialist
advisory support from a specifically procured framework contract to access

Page 58

specialist advice as necessary. The team will work closely with the Finance and
Legal teams to ensure that specific regulatory or legislative requirements are
understood and adhere to prior to deals being closed.
1.9.3 The Combined Authority has access to a range of advisors to assist in the operation
of its treasury and investment activity. The Authority uses Link Asset Services as its
external treasury management advisors. The Authority recognises that
responsibility for treasury management decisions remain with the organisation and
seeks to ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon external service providers.
Notwithstanding this, the Authority recognises that there is value in employing
external providers of treasury management services in order to acquire access to
specialist skills and resources. The Investment Team has access to a range of
specialist advisors through its framework, including Legal, Financial, sectoral
specific advisors and economic appraisers who will be utilised as necessary for the
purpose of supporting investment opportunities brought forward.

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

Detailed Capital Programme 2020/21
£'000

LGF 1
City Centre Connectivity Phase 1
STEP 3-6
STEC - Work & Wellbeing
Strand 1 - Southport College
Strand 1 - COLC
Strand 1 - Sefton MBC
Strand 1 - Riverside
TOTAL LGF 1

3,862
6,298
37
990
723
497
1,000
13,407

LGF 2
Alstom
Alchemy Phase 3
Magazine Point
Gerrards Park
Image Business Park
MTC Project in a Box SIF2039
Light Industrial Funding Contingency
Pall Mall
Tower Road
Brookfield Business Park
Createh Scale Up
Strand 2 Wirral Met
TOTAL LGF 2

LGF 3
Key Route Network
Shakespeare Rail
South Whiston
Digital Innovation
Kirkby Town Centre
Skills Strand 2
Skills Strand 3
Skills Strand 4
TOTAL LGF 3

436
64
515
698
576
4,948
376
0
3,000
546
336
179
11,674

517
3,046
3,119
684
5,000
1,541
175
1,750
15,833

Page 61

Gainshare Capital
City Centre Strand Corridor phase 2
Paddington
Shakespeare Playhouse
South Whiston
Cruise Liner
Parkside Road
Town Centres
Eureaka
Inward Investment Fund
Strand Shopping Centre
TOTAL GAINSHARE

5,777
960
10,550
7,542
20,000
23,800
6,000
1,345
2,250
130
78,354

SIF Loans
Merseyreach ( Chancery Gate )
Flexible Growth Fund
TOTAL

3,738
7,750
1,250
12,738

Single Capital Allocation

26,500

Transforming Cities
Access City Centre
Access for All
Eastern City Region
Ferry
Headbolt Lane
Cycle network
Cycle network
Liverpool Central Gateway
Public Transport Conn
Rolling Stock IPEMUS
Rolling Stock TCIS
Runcorn Station
Smart Ticketing
St James Station
Sub Regional Hydrogen
TOTAL TCF

52
3,001
400
7,000
3,250
0
50
883
100
2,942
16,176
3,531
1,141
800
9,500
48,826

Sandon Global

Merseytravel Capital Programme
Rolling Stock
Mersey Tunnels
Other Merseytravel capital schemes
TOTAL

125,122
7,500
6,020
138,642

TOTAL PROGRAMME

345,973

Page 62

Agenda Item 6
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY
To:

Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Meeting:

15 January 2020

Authority/Authorities Affected:

All authorities

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No

REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF POLICY
AND STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING
REVIEW OF ACTIONS TO IMPROVE POOR AIR QUALITY ACROSS
THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

This report updates members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the
Combined Authority‟s plans to improve poor air quality across the Liverpool City
Region. This is intended as context, to inform the Committee‟s potential lines of
inquiry in this area.

1.2

The commitment to take action follows an earlier examination into the issues of poor
air quality by a Task and Finish Group, established by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee in the spring of 2018. In turn, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
developed a series of recommendations, agreed by the Combined Authority in June
2018. These recommendations are reproduced in Appendix One as context.

1.3

Specifically, members‟ attention is drawn to the interim Air Quality Action Plan – a
key recommendation made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and which
has been developed by the Air Quality Task Force. Membership of the Task Force
is set out within Appendix Two.

1.4

It was agreed that this action plan would be presented back to members of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee ahead of consideration of its adoption by the
Combined Authority (CA). This is to provide an opportunity to provide any further
feedback and input, ensuring the plan is as comprehensive and robust as possible
to act as a framework for action. This interim Action Plan is set out in Appendix
Three.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

It is recommended that the Combined Authority‟s Overview and Scrutiny
Committee:
(a)

considers the progress on agreed actions to improve air quality across the
Liverpool City Region; and more specifically

Page 63

(b)

provides comments upon, and any further input in to the interim Air Quality
Action Plan that is set out within Appendix Three, ahead of its finalisation by
the Combined Authority towards the end of the financial year.

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

There is consensus locally, nationally and internationally around the need to take
urgent action to address the significant challenges presented by poor air quality,
and nitrogen dioxide specifically, not least from a health and wellbeing angle. This is
a problem affecting the Liverpool City Region (LCR), and indeed, most major towns
and cities globally. It comes in the main, but not exclusively, as a result of traffic
and transport emissions.

3.2

In the spring of 2018 the CA‟s Overview and Scrutiny Committee established a Task
and Finish Group to explore and make recommendations on the issue of poor air
quality. A detailed report was developed together with a series of recommendations.
These were presented to, and agreed by the Combined Authority in June 20181 and
are set out in Appendix One.

3.3

Of the recommendations agreed by the Combined Authority, a key proposal related
to the development of an air quality action plan. This was considered vital in clearly
setting out the CA‟s approach to taking action on a LCR footing, recognising that
statutory air quality plans have been developed at local authority level, but not at a
strategic level.

3.4

Allied to this is the importance of working collaboratively with the constituent local
authorities, local partners and central government to tackle the problem. It was also
agreed that this collaborative approach would be formalised through a LCR Air
Quality Task Force. This group has overseen the development of the interim Air
Quality Action Plan as one of its principal tasks.

4.

THE AIR QUALITY TASK FORCE

4.1

The terms of reference and proposed membership of the proposed Air Quality Task
Force were agreed by the CA in November 20182. It was important for this group
to comprise both officers and members from the local authorities, the CA, from key
agencies and from business, to progress the range of actions and commitments
needed in order to improve air quality. As no individual body holds all of the powers
needed, effective and coordinated collective actions are required to tackle a
problem that does not respect administrative boundaries. .

4.2

The Task Force was launched in March 2019 under the leadership of Cllr Liam
Robinson, Lead Portfolio Member for Transport and Air Quality. The membership of
the Task Force is set out within Appendix Two. The task force was initiated later
than the planned date of September 2018 anticipated in the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee‟s report to the CA, but time was spent scoping the role and membership
of the group, ensuring it was was meaningful, transparent and inclusive. It was

1
2

https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s26022/CAairqualityscrutinyreportJune2018.pdf
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s32330/Item%207%20-%20Report%20Appendicies.pdf

Page 64

agreed that the group would meet for a period of one year, guided by a work plan,
and with a review after six months.
4.3

Membership of the group has evolved in response to new issues coming to light,
and in response to new partnerships and links being formed (e.g. with Highways
England and with NHS related bodies). The group is an effective example of
partnership working, reflected in the consistently high levels of attendance at officer
and at political level, together with its work in raising the profile of air quality issues
across the board, and in shaping the interim Action Plan.

4.4

The group has agreed a work programme for the remainder of the financial year,
which includes finalising the Action Plan and a series of “deep dives” into areas that
have not yet been explored in detail. Areas being explored further include:
engagement with NHS structures, working with schools and the education sector,
and freight and port-related emissions. The need for, and role of the group will be
reviewed at the end of the financial year.

5.

THE INTERIM AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN

5.1

The Task Force has developed an interim plan to coincide with the end of its initial
6-month work programme. The draft plan was reported to, and endorsed by the
Combined Authority in November 20193, but with the expectation that the report
would be presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee ahead of its
finalisation. This feedback process recognises the important work of the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee in raising the profile of a longstanding problems across the
city region, and the importance of challenging plans and protocols throughout the
process.

5.2

The development of the action plan has come later than the date of October 2018
in the Combined Authority‟s response to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‟s
recommendations. This is due in part to the time taken to scope the Task Force, as
noted above, but principally the breadth of issues that underpin the plan and the
need for alignment with other plans and studies. For example, a high level technical
air quality study was undertaken at the time that the task force was being
established and which was extended in scope to support the Spatial Development
Strategy process. Liverpool City Council was also undertaking detailed „mandated‟
work to investigate Clear Air Zone options in response to air quality compliance
problems within the city. Sefton Council has also recently agreed to develop a
detailed non-statutory study into options on emissions in and around the Port.

5.3

The Action Plan is structured into short and longer-term actions across four main
areas. It is reiterated, however, that there is fluidity across these four areas,
recognising the collective approach needed to improving pollution levels, and that
no individual body has all of the required levers or powers to tackle the problem.

5.4

The four main areas of the action plan are as follows:a) Actions by the LCR Combined Authority;

3

https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s41839/Item%2015%20%20Report%20Appendix%20One.pdf

Page 65

b) Actions by the constituent local authorities and partners, supported by the
LCR Combined Authority;
c) Actions for the Liverpool City Region‟s residents, communities and
businesses; and
d) Actions for escalation nationally with central government or its agencies
5.5

Across these areas, examples of key actions in the plan include the following:a) Embedding clean growth principles into the LCR Combined Authority‟s
emerging Local Industrial Strategy, and which were positively received
through the #LCR Listens consultation and engagement programme.
b) the commissioning and delivery of a radical and comprehensive programme
of walking and cycling upgrades within the next 4 years, linked to the
Transforming Cities Funding programme and the development of a Local
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan to boost walking and cycling levels.
c) working with Highways England to explore the scope of rolling-out their
electric van pilot scheme, working closely with all parties, including local
Chambers of Commerce to engage local small businesses and end users.
d) investigating options for an LCR scrappage scheme to phase out dirty
vehicles, including taxis, private hire vehicles, and light goods vehicles,
targeted at small local businesses.
e) championing greater consistency of taxi and private hire vehicle standards
across the city region, to create higher environmental standards overall,
building on earlier scoping work led by Knowsley Council in 2018.
f) Through the Transforming Cities Fund‟s Green Bus Route proposals,
developing a new approach to bus quality, convenience and punctuality, by
giving buses the right priority on our highways to make bus travel a more
attractive opportunity. Bus delivery options are also being tested, linked to
powers in the Devolution Deal.
g) Delivering measures to improve housing stock and domestic emissions.
Potentially, this could be around an energy retrofit programme and city
region domestic boiler scrappage scheme to help local residents reduce
domestic consumption.
h) developing and delivering a consistent marketing campaign on Air Quality,
including public information and an agreed calendar of events linked to
consistent press and PR messaging.
i) piloting an approach to greening development across all districts to absorb
pollutants, for consideration as part of the development of the LCR CA‟S
Spatial Development Strategy.
j) engaging government on initiatives to remove the oldest and dirtiest engines
from the vehicle fleet through scrappage schemes or similar for domestic
vehicles.

5.6

Subject to further additions from members of the Air Quality Task Force, from the
Fairness and Social Justice Advisory Board (FASJAB) and by members of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the plan will be refined further and
strengthened in light of new findings wherever possible. A finalised version will be
reported to the Combined Authority for consideration by the end of the financial
year, though with the expectation that the plan and associated actions will evolve
naturally as circumstances change.

Page 66

5.7

Overall, the interim plan is considered a vitally important start in coalescing
partners around a shared vision and action plan. It also provides a consistent
framework against which more localised or specific plans and strategies can be
structured by partners.

6.

OTHER RELEVANT ACTIONS TO NOTE

6.1

The interim Air Quality Action Plan seeks to draw together a wide range of issues
and actions needed to help tackle the causes of poor air quality, recognising the
large number of factors that lead to atmospheric emissions and exceedances.

6.2

There are numerous commitments, plans and programmes being developed or
supported by the CA that have a significant bearing on air quality, atmospheric
emissions and health and well-being. These include:(a)

Climate Emergency declaration


Recognising the impacts and threats arising from man-made climate change,
and the urgent need to take action, the LCRCA declared a climate
emergency at its Annual Meeting in May 2019.



This built on a 2018 city regional target to achieve net zero carbon by 2040.
This is ten years ahead of the UK national target and five years ahead of
devolved governments in Scotland and Wales.



This action demonstrates an understanding of the pressing threat of climate
change and importantly, commitment to develop a climate action plan by the
spring of 2020. This will entail the development of a co-ordinated and
evidence-led response to the challenges.

(b)

Year of the Environment 2019 and its legacy


Officers from the CA have worked with partners from the Year of The
Environment steering group to scope and plan an LCR Environmental
Summit held in early November 2019, to draw a close to the Year itself.



The summit was headlined by the Metro Mayor and provided a forum for
people involved in the year‟s events and activities, including the range of
“Listening” events on various strands of the Year of Environment agenda
(e.g. waste, water, trees, biodiversity, climate change, natural capital, health
and wellbeing).



The Summit also saw the publication of the University of Liverpool‟s
Heseltine Institute‟s contribution to the Year of the Environment, “Towards a
Green Future for Liverpool City Region”, which considers the environmental
challenges faced by the city region and the country and looks at what can be
done to face them.



As a legacy, a LCR Climate Partnership is being established in early 2020 to
co-ordinate responses to the climate emergency and bring together all

Page 67

organisations that want to play their part in achieving the city region‟s goal to
be zero carbon by 2040 or sooner. A community environmental fund will
also support this process.

(c)

Plans and strategies that support clean growth


The CA recently adopted a short term Transport Plan to set out its vision and
plans for transport in July 2019 which has environmental sustainability as a
precondition, linked to a low carbon, public transport, walking and cycling
network, to support productivity in a way that tackles poor air quality and
carbon emissions.



Through the LCR Listens engagement programme, residents and
businesses across the LCR have had an opportunity to have their say on the
main issues of importance. The aim is to create a fairer, more prosperous
city region for everyone on the big issues like employment, environment,
housing, transport, skills and transport for the next 20 years. This has
restated the importance attached by residents to a high quality, clean and
healthy environment and the need to tackle poor air quality.



This work is informing the LCR‟s emerging Local Industrial Strategy (the title
of which is likely to change in light of the new Government) which will set out
the long-term economic vision for the Liverpool City Region. An emerging
priority is for the LCR to be one of the cleanest, greenest places in the UK.
This is not only through tangible projects to invest in (e.g. clean public
transport, cycling and walking, sustainable energy, high environmental
standards for new homes) but by building on the LCR‟s strengths and unique
selling points and supporting an inclusive economy.. This will challenge
historic conventions whereby development and the protection of the
environment have been seen as opposites or trade-offs.



Allied to these concerns is a consensus around the need for better data to
support decision-making across the city region. Work is underway involving
the local authority air quality officers to scope new technologies to monitor air
quality more comprehensively, against which LCRCA funding has been
allocated. Scenario testing tools are also being developed to enable the
LCRCA to model interventions in carbon and emission terms.

6.3

It will be appreciated from the examples above that the CA is working to embed the
principles that have been brought into sharp focus over the past two years into its
core policies and strategies, and into an overarching Air Quality Action Plan that is
supported by a wide range of partners. This is vital to help deliver the change
needed, and to make a practical difference to the health and wellbeing of the
people, residents and businesses of the LCR.

7.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

7.1

Financial
There are financial implications associated with the implementation of the
recommendations in this report, given the potential financial risks to the LCR and to

Page 68

its constituent local authorities as a result of failures to meet air quality targets.
There are also likely to be costs associated with the implementation of measures to
address poor air quality and which will be supported by capital sources such as the
Transforming Cities Fund to support a shift to cleaner forms of travel in the
immediate term. Liverpool City Council is also securing government funds to
support the implementation of clear air measures within the city. A modest budget
exists within the CA‟s control to support air quality monitoring and modelling
capabilities.
7.2

Human Resources
There are direct Human Resources implications associated with the implementation
of the recommendations in this report, especially in terms of proposed actions such
as the collection of better data sets, marketing and PR campaigns and better
understand the impacts on air quality. The LCRCA is currently recruiting a Principal
Officer – Environmental Officer to help coordinate and deliver measures set out
within the Action Plan in conjunction with the local authorities and other members of
the task force.

7.3

Physical Assets
There are no direct implications arising from this report, but as the Authority owns
land and property, there is a potential impact in the event that green infrastructure
retrofitting of its assets is necessary in an attempt to tackle poor air quality and to
capture pollutants.

7.4

Information Technology
There are potential information technology implications associated with the
implementation of the recommendations in this report in terms of any proposals to
upgrade or renew the air quality monitoring process and to enhance modelling and
scenario-testing tools.

8.

RISKS AND MITIGATION

8.1

Environmental threats and climate change present significant risks to the people of
the city region and beyond. A collective approach to take action to reduce these
risks and to mitigate against, and adapt to climate change is essential. The
Authority‟s emerging plans and strategies seek to build on the LCR‟s unique
characteristics and make it one of the cleanest and greenest places in the UK.

9.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Evidence suggests that the poorest and most vulnerable people in society are often
those who are most exposed to pollution arising from road traffic, as these areas
are typically those most affected by road traffic on main arterial routes. As such,
measures to improve air quality will be likely to have greatest benefit from the point
of view of this cohort

Page 69

10.

COMMUNICATION ISSUES

10.1 The Government‟s publication “Air Quality: A Briefing for Public Health Directors”
sets out good practice on how best to communicate with stakeholders on the issues
at stake, recognising that they are typically complex and scientific in nature. It will
be appreciated that a key aim of the interim Air Quality Action Plan in Appendix
Three is to increase public awareness of the issues and options at stake.

11.

CONCLUSION

11.1

This report updates members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the CA‟s
plans to improve poor air quality across the Liverpool City Region. This is intended
as context, to inform the Committee‟s potential lines of inquiry in this area.

11.2 In particular, members‟ attention is drawn to the interim Air Quality Action Plan – a
key recommendation made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and which
has been developed by the Air Quality Task Force. This is set out within Appendix
Three of this report and the views of members are welcomed ahead of its
finalisation.
11.3

The interim plan is considered a vitally important start in aligning partners around a
shared vision and plan. It is important to provide this opportunity for members to
provide further feedback and input, so as to make the plan as comprehensive and
robust as possible, to act as a clear and trusted framework for action.

DR AILEEN JONES
Assistant Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning

Contact Officer(s):
Huw Jenkins, Lead Officer – Transport Policy, LCR Combined Authority

Appendices:
Appendix One - Recap on Air Quality Recommendations Agreed by LCRCA in June 2018
Appendix Two - Membership of LCR Air Quality Task Force
Appendix Three – Interim Air Quality Action Plan
Background Documents:
None

Page 70

Appendix One
Recap on Air Quality Recommendations Agreed by LCRCA in June 2018
1. That the Metro Mayor, on behalf of Combined Authority, acts as a political “champion”
for a series of long term measures to improve air quality across the Liverpool City
Region, involving a wide range of influential bodies and decision makers. The
preliminary air quality feasibility study which is in the process of being finalised, and the
action plan that needs to be developed in response, should be formally considered by
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in due course. This will come ahead of
consideration by the Combined Authority.
2. Allied to this, the Metro Mayor and the Combined Authority should champion a
communications plan to set out a commitment to engage with people across the LCR.
This should be targeted as follows:a. to engage with schools and young people who are particularly vulnerable to the
effects of poor air quality, aided by consistent educational materials and best
practice across the LCR;
b. to engage with the public protection and public health sectors to jointly raise
awareness, which could be through roadshows and events, as examples; and;
c. to promote National Clean Air Day and related campaigns.
3. The communications plan needs to explain clearly that the LCR has a problem and set
out what can be done to both alleviate symptoms, and help address the root of the
problem.
4. The Combined Authority needs to fully utilise and align its funding, transport, planning
and economic development powers to create an environment where people have
reduced reliance on road transport and make greater use of walking, cycling and public
transport. For example, this could be linked to the Authority‟s emerging digital strategy
and the powers that it has over a Key Route Network of local roads. This also needs to
be consistently applied through the Authority‟s plans and strategies, e.g. through the
Freight Strategy and Local Journeys Strategy.
5. The Combined Authority should use its emerging Spatial Development Strategy to
address poor air quality and to raise air quality as a policy consideration.
6. The Combined Authority should give prominent and consistent consideration to air
quality implications in its decision-making processes and in its investment decisions.
This could include much better “before and after‟ analysis in project and programme
evaluations.
7. The Combined Authority should support the six constituent local authorities in their
statutory duties to monitor and address air quality, and seek to foster a more “high
tech”, consistent and extensive air quality monitoring regime across the LCR. The
Combined Authority also needs to work collectively with the constituent local authorities
and with central government to tackle the problems caused by vehicles and engines
that create the most pollution. This should take the form of an LCR air quality task
force, convened by the Authority, comprising officers from the local authorities,
Combined Authority and public health bodies, to progress the actions needed in order
to improve air quality.

Page 71

Appendix Two
Membership of LCR Air Quality Task Force

Cllr Liam Robinson

Portfolio Member – Transport and Air
Quality, Liverpool City Region CA

St Helens

Cllr Stef Nelson
Cllr Frank Walsh
Cllr Laura RobertsonCollins
Cllr Lynn Clarke

Sefton

Cllr Paulette Lappin

Wirral

Cllr Elizabeth Gray

Portfolio holder for Environment
Chair of Planning Committee
Cabinet Member for Environment and
Sustainability
Portfolio Holder for Better
Neighbourhoods
Cabinet Member - Regulatory,
Compliance and Corporate Services
Cabinet Member for Environment and
Climate Change

Chair
Elected members
Halton
Knowsley
Liverpool

LCR officers
Combined Authority
Merseytravel

John McGee
Huw Jenkins
Gerry Nolan
Matt Goggins

Halton
Knowsley
Liverpool

Sarah Johnson Griffiths
Sarah McNulty
Colleen Martin

Sefton
St Helens
Wirral

Matt Ashton
Tony Smith
Daniel Dawson

External
Defra/DfT Joint Air
Quality Unit
LCR Local
Enterprise
Partnership
Liverpool and
Sefton Chamber of
Commerce
Public Health
England
Highways England

Simon Cox

Head of Government Relations
Lead Officer – Transport Policy
Technical Services Manager,
Asset Management
Head of Bus
Consultant in Public Health.
Acting Director of Public Health
Assistant Director –
Supporting Communities
Director of Public Health, Sefton
Service Manager, Regulatory Services
Environmental Health Operations
Manager
Joint Air Quality Unit, Department for
Transport / Department for Environment
-

-

Michelle Cameron

Senior Policy and Communications
Advisor

Dr Richard Jarvis

Consultant in Health Protection,
Cheshire & Merseyside Health
Protection Team, PHE North West
Spatial Planning Manager, Operations
North West

John Hope

Page 72

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority

Initial Air Quality Action Plan
November 2019

DRAFT FINAL – V7
FOR CONSIDERATION BY LCR CA – 1/11/19

Page 73

1

CONTENTS
FOREWORD

2

1. The aim of this action plan

4

2. Recap - What do we already know?
a. Responsibilities

5

b. “Mandated” work on Clean Air Zones

6

c. Best practice

7

d. Building the evidence

8

3. The Action Plan - Short, medium and long-term:
a. Actions by the Combined Authority

12

b. Actions by the constituent local authorities and
partners, supported by the Combined Authority

18

c. Actions for the Liverpool City Region‟s residents,
communities and businesses

20

d. Actions for escalation nationally with central
government or its agencies

21

4. Next steps

23

Page 74

2

DRAFT FOREWORD
Ensuring that everyone can breathe clean air is one of the most fundamental
issues facing us today and an issue that we must all address, together.
Earlier this year the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority declared a climate
emergency and addressing poor air quality is at the heart of responding to it.
Many of us will remember when the city region‟s finest buildings were blackened
by the emissions from our coal-fired economy. But while our buildings have been
restored to their original glory and our air looks clearer, the reality is that air
pollution continues to do us harm, with visible sulphur and soot replaced by
invisible nitrogen dioxide and particulates.
As is so often the case, it is our most deprived communities, who already have to
cope with multiple health problems, who suffer most from the effects of polluted
air. In the Liverpool City Region, we have areas where men have a life
expectancy seven years lower than the national average.
We have had some notable successes in tackling air pollution. We are home to
pioneering work to develop buses and trains that run on hydrogen and we‟re
building on our strength in offshore wind with the development our potentially
world-leading Mersey Tidal Power scheme. We also have big plans for
encouraging much more walking and cycling across the city region.
But no one organisation or individual can address poor air quality alone.
That‟s why our Air Quality Task Force is made up of elected and other
representatives from across the six local authority area of the city region. And it‟s
why this plan, the first result of its work, contains actions for the Combined
Authority, for our constituent Local Authorities and partners, supported by the
Combined Authority, for residents, communities and businesses and actions we
need from central government and its agencies.
We all need to change the way we live, work and do business if we are to
improve our air quality for ourselves and for future generations.
Now is the time for action.

[Signatures]
Metro Mayor and Lead Member for Transport and Air Quality

Page 75

3

1.

The aim of this action plan

1.1

This document supports existing action by our local authority
partners and other bodies across the city region to tackle the
problem of poor air quality. It sets out a vision and series of actions
to improve air quality. The Combined Authority, as a strategic body,
has both direct and indirect influences and powers in this area. But
the fundamental principle that only through joint commitment and
co-ordinated action can we solve this longstanding problem.

1.2

There is consensus locally, nationally and internationally around the need
to take urgent action to address the significant challenges presented by
poor air quality, and nitrogen dioxide specifically. This is a problem
affecting most major towns and cities globally as a result of traffic and
transport emissions in the main. Equally, the challenges presented by
particulate matter (PM), especially from domestic sources and industry
pose significant dangers, if not to the same extend at a city regional level.

1.3

Public Health England reiterate that air pollution has a significant impact
on our health; between 28,000 – 36,000 deaths each year are attributable
to human-made air pollution in the UK and that more action is needed.
More specifically, Public Health England also estimate that air pollution
contributes to around 700 deaths a year in the Liverpool City Region.

1.3

In the spring of 2018 the Combined Authority‟s Overview and Scrutiny
Committee convened a task and finish group to examine the issue of poor
Air Quality across the Liverpool City Region. This work entailed the
collation of a detailed body of evidence on the causes and effects or poor
air quality locally and the range of options to tackle the problem. This
work drew on presentations by, and discussions with a large number of
expert witnesses. This action plan does not seek to reproduce this
important context in the interests of brevity, but the hyperlinks throughout
the plan link to sources of further information.

1.4

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee developed a report and a series of
recommendations. These were presented the Combined Authority in June
2018 and were unanimously agreed. A summary of these
recommendations is set out in the Appendix.

1.5

Of the recommendations agreed by the Combined Authority, one
commitment related to the development of this action plan. This was
considered vital to clearly set out the Combined Authority‟s approach to
taking action on a Liverpool City Region footing. Allied to this was the
importance of working collaboratively with the constituent local authorities,
local partners and central government to tackle the problem.

1.6

More specifically, it was agreed that this collaborative approach would be
formalised through an LCR Air Quality Task Force, convened by the

Page 76

4

Authority, comprising elected members and officers from the local
authorities, Combined Authority and Merseytravel, key government
agencies and from business, to progress the actions needed in order to
improve air quality. The establishment of this group recognised that,
irrespective of legal responsibilities, no individual body holds all of the
powers needed; effective actions to tackle the problem are dependent
upon a co-ordinated, collaborative approach. This is also an approach
that‟s better able to secure value for money and economies of scale when
it comes to delivery or action.
1.7

This is an interim plan that has been developed to coincide with the Air
Quality Task Force‟s initial 6-month work programme. It will be refined
further ahead of the end of the financial year and updated in light of new
considerations affecting the city region. A prominent consideration
includes the “mandated” air quality study within Liverpool City Council that
the Combined Authority is fully engaged with, but which is still underway at
the time of drafting this action plan. Issues stemming from this will be
reflected fully in the final version of the plan. Other emerging
considerations include potential air quality legislative changes, budgetary
changes locally and nationally, the growing number of “Climate
Emergency” responses, and the development of the Local Industrial
Strategy (LIS). These are highlighted in more detail in the sections that
follow.

2.

Recap - what do we already know?

2.1

Responsibilities
2.1.1 Action to monitor and manage air pollution is governed by
legislation stemming from European Directives. In legal terms, the
main pollutant exceeding these defined standards across the LCR
is nitrogen dioxide. However, as noted, particulate matter (PM),
comprising microscopically small particles from combustion, vehicle
brakes, tyres and road surfaces, chemical reactions, construction or
agricultural processes, for example, is also a harmful pollutant
affecting the city region.
2.1.2 Most nitrogen dioxide emissions stem from transport emissions
from the combustion of petrol and diesel. The Scrutiny Panel‟s
report contains more detail on these emissions and where Air
Quality Management Areas have been declared. As transport
movements are not confined to local authority boundaries, neither
do the sources of these emissions follow or respect local authority
boundaries.
2.1.3 At present, the Combined Authority is not specifically covered by
local air quality management legislation. However, members have

Page 77

5

agreed that the Authority can and must act in response to the
problem and in order to raise the profile of the issue. Importantly,
as the main nitrogen dioxide emissions locally stem from transport
sources, and given the Combined Authority‟s statutory
responsibilities for transport policy and funding, our policies and
priorities have a direct bearing on transport, on transport emissions
and local air quality. Equally, the Combined Authority‟s emerging
economic strategies, spatial plans and housing plans, as examples,
affect atmospheric emissions and air quality. The added value of
the Authority as an “enabler” across a bigger area, and in being
able to engage a wide range of partners is also critically important
in terms of securing co-ordination and synergy and in helping to
avoid any unintended consequences locally.
2.1.4 Under the emerging Environment Bill, there is the potential for
statutory responsibilities for tackling poor air quality to be amended.
There is a strong possibility that the Combined Authority will be
mandated with a duty to co-operate with other parties as part of this
process. This would formalise the collaborative approach to
tackling poor air quality to date (aligning powers, funds and
delivery) in a way that is similar to land use planning legislation that
places a duty for local authorities to co-operate with one another on
strategic cross-boundary matters.

2.2

“Mandated” work on Clean Air Zones
2.2.1 Many cities across the UK have been mandated by Defra to
undertaken detailed studies to bring air quality within the prescribed
limits within the shortest possible time. These mandates include a
requirement to investigate Clear Air Zone options. Liverpool City
Council is subject to this mandate. A highway link in Sefton was
identified as being potentially problematic, but in the authority‟s
2019 Targeted Feasibility Study, concluded that the road link was
compliant and that at this time, no further mandatory action is
needed from Defra‟s perceptive.
2.2.2 At the time of writing this interim report, the Clean Air Zones study
in Liverpool is still in development, and implications will be
addressed in a later iteration of the Action Plan. Sefton MBC are
also considering options around how best to improve air quality
within the borough. However, dependent upon the options that are
ultimately shortlisted or mandated, these interventions are likely to
be highly significant in both scale and impact.
2.2.3 The Combined Authority is actively supporting Liverpool City
Council with the development of options development and potential

Page 78

6

delivery as part of the process of developing an outline business
case submission to Defra by the end of October 2019.
2.2.4 Other major towns and cities across the UK are also developing air
quality plans in response to similar Defra mandates, notably
Greater Manchester as the city region‟s nearest neighbouring city
region. Discussions are underway to understand cross-boundary
impacts (e.g. the displacement of „clean‟ vehicles or other
unintended consequences) and to understand and minimise the
negative impact of their clean air plans on Liverpool City Region.
Best practice
2.3.1 The LCR Air Quality Task Force has identified a wealth of
opportunities and best practice to address our air quality challenge.
Some of these are ongoing activities, others would be new. And in
many instances these actions need to apply more consistently
across the city region. These include, but are not limited to the
following examples under four main categories:-

Political
commitment

Use of
regulatory

Examples of best practice identified across the LCR
 Most of the local authorities in the Liverpool City Region have
declared climate emergency, including the Combined Authority
itself. These declarations stems in response to the pressing
threat of climate change and the urgent need to take action of
climate change, air quality and the environment. For the
LCRCA, this will build on the net zero carbon target of 2040.
Tackling climate change and poor air quality are considered as
two sides of the same coin.
 Local partners are actively supporting LCR Year of the
Environment 2019 and which includes the issue of air quality as
one of its eight priority themes.
 The development of effective partnerships to take collective
action in response to complex problems and challenges,
including the LCR Bus Alliance, the collaborative approach to
Year of the Environment 2019, a technical group of expert air
quality officers led by Wirral Council, and the Air Quality Task
Force itself.
 The Metro Mayor and Combined Authority have clear visions
around a net zero carbon agenda and the role of clean growth,
clean, renewable energy and clean fuels. Halton and St Helens
Councils are also important sources of hydrogen as an
alternative fuel source for vehicles, to support these aims.
 Many local authorities have proactive approaches to enforcing
emissions from vehicles, including buses and taxis, together with

Page 79

7

Examples of best practice identified across the LCR
actions to clean and retrofit vehicle fleets through e.g. taxi
licensing regimes and Sefton‟s Council‟s ECOStars goods fleet
accreditation scheme.
 The Combined Authority is exploring the pros and cons of
devolved powers available under the Bus Services Act in respect
of bus service operations
Strong policies
 Many local authorities use planning guidance to tackle or
and funding
mitigate against poor air quality (e.g. standards for new
packages
developments or assessments of proposals in air quality)
 Access to £172.5m over the next four year to enhance
sustainable travel through the Transforming Cities Fund.
 LCR has extensive experience of bidding for and securing funds
that tackle poor air quality, and to support the uptake of cleaner
engines and fund sustainable travel options, including grant aid
from sources such as the Office for low Emissions Vehicles
 The adoption of robust policy frameworks that promote clean
growth have clean growth, modal shift and air quality and
resilience at their core, including the Combined Authority‟s
Transport Plan and agreement around a vision for bus to secure
a sustainable network that delivers commitments to air quality
and health improvements.
Education and
 The development of educational materials for schools and
awareness
engagement with schools and parents (e.g. Sefton‟s Clean Air
Crew initiatives through its EcoCentre and an educational pack
led by St Helens Council).
 Engagement with, and support for businesses, to tackle the
problems and highlight the benefits of greener forms of transport,
clean growth and clean air
 The delivery of a range of campaigns, communications and
events (e.g. on Clean Air Day and Car Free Day)
 The Better By Bus Campaign to make the bus a more attractive
option and to encourage a switch form private car usage
 The use of innovative means of communicating complex public
health messages to the public to raise the profile of the issues
and target action
powers

2.3

Building the evidence
2.3.1 As the Task Force was in the process of being established, the
Combined Authority was concluding a high level study to better
understand, and gauge the relative impacts of various measures
available in which to tackle air quality problems. This was
developed by AECOM consultancy. The final report was shared
with the LCR Air Quality Ask Force at its first meeting in March
2019 and provided a valuable source of material in the identification

Page 80

8

of potential “quick wins” and longer-term actions, pilots or
developmental work.
2.3.2 The report outlines the technical details, and potential impacts of
implementing a range of interventions to improve air quality. 40
potential transport and non-transport interventions were identified
and were scored and ranked by AECOM as follows as per the tale
in Appendix Two.
2.3.3 This helped to identify a number of “quick wins” versus more
complex, policy, delivery or funding-led approaches. These quick
wins can be highlighted below, and several are behavioural or
regulatory in their nature and align closely with many of the
examples of best practice in section 2.3.1 and in the action plan
that follows:








Engagement & Education
Bus Fleet Upgrades
Mersey Tunnel Tolls
Fleet Management
Travel Cards
Web Resources
Domestic Solid Fuel Burning
Tackling the effect of diesel generators

2.3.4 A number of other high-scoring measures are more complex in their
scope, but will have the potential to make significant improvements
to local air quality. Measures like better urban traffic control traffic
control systems, enhanced bus corridors and enhanced cycling
infrastructure or piloting hydrogen fuelled buses are now being
progressed via current funding opportunities (e.g. Transforming
Cities Funding. There are also aspects identified that may form
future asks of government as part of the development of the Local
Industrial Strategy or as part of the Spending Review process.
These are referenced in the action plan that follows.
2.3.5 Importantly, the study highlighted the importance of securing better
data and evidence as a first step, together with enhanced air quality
modelling capability for both the Combined Authority and the local
authorities.
2.3.6 Allied to the mandated work” that is ongoing now (as set out in para
2.2), the AECOM study recognised the role of Clean Air Zones, and
which a number of local authorities (including Liverpool) are
considering as a measure to bring forward compliance with legal
limits for nitrogen dioxide in the shortest possible time, and which
entail a form of charging mechanism for non-compliant (“dirty”)
vehicles.

Page 81

9

2.3.7 From the high level study, CAZs were afforded a lower initial priority
score by AECOM, preliminary areas that may be suitable for the
implementation of a CAZ focused around Liverpool and Sefton, the
greatest potential benefits may be achieved in terms of improved air
quality and health. Critically, the need for a better level of data on
vehicle classes and engine types was highlighted, to understand
better how the application of the CAZ scenario may affect local and
regional emissions. This is now reflected in the detailed business
case being developed by Liverpool City Council and the options
being explored by Sefton Council.
2.3.8 In March 2019, at the time that the task force was being
established, Public Health England produced a further piece of
timely evidence on the health risks arising from poor air quality and
the interventions that would best address this – a “Review of
interventions to improve outdoor air quality and public health”.
2.3.9 It provides evidence-based advice on actions available locally and
nationally to reduce air pollution and its impact on our health. It
also challenges the view that actions to reduce air pollution run
counter to economic growth and development, arguing that this is
an opportunity for better air quality and economic prosperity to go
hand in hand. This is consistent with the emerging vision in the
Local Industrial Strategy around health and wellbeing, linked
integrally to clean growth.
2.3.10 The following are highlighted as effective interventions to address
traffic-related emissions:




Reducing emissions from existing vehicles (e.g. retrofitting)
planning for active travel and public transport use
Promoting low emission vehicles and reducing demand for more
polluting forms of transport.
Using the planning process to reduce sources and exposure to
pollution. (e.g. reducing the need for vehicle use by design and
increasing the use of public transport and active travel)

2.3.11 Public Health England‟s highlighted interventions align closely with
issues identified in 2018 by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
and high-level recommendations to the Combined Authority. They
also add further weight and validity to the measures identified in this
action plan.

Page 82

10

3.

Structuring this into an action plan

3.1

Drawing the above considerations together, the action plan that follows is
divided into three main sections:1.
2.
3.
4.

3.2

Actions by the Combined Authority
Recommended actions to local authorities and our partners
Actions for the LCR‟s residents, communities and businesses; and
Recommended actions to Central Government and its agencies

Where appropriate these are then divided into short term and longer term
actions:


Short term – for action or delivery immediately or within the next 12
months
Longer term – for action or delivery with the next 24-36 months

3.3

It is reiterated that this is an interim plan which will be refined further over
the coming six months, but provides an important starting point for action
to be taken by the Combined Authority and by partners.

3.4

This process of refinement and engagement will also help to strengthen
emerging recommendations in the plan, recognising that many need
further testing and exploration in order to make harder-hitting and more
precise, to have the desired effect. Equally, issues arising from detailed
clean air options-testing work within Liverpool will be factored into the
draft final plan.

3.5

Importantly, it is an important start in drawing together partners across
the city region as a whole together, and coalescing around a shared
vision and action plan.

Page 83

11

THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION’S INITIAL AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN
(1) Actions by the Combined Authority
Short term actions (within the next 12 months)
Supporting our partners to clean the air


Page 84

We will work with Liverpool on the development of options around poor air quality and
potential clean air zones as part of the “mandated” work with Defra, and seek to
secure synergies and common approaches
 We will work with our colleagues at the Greater Manchester Combined Authority to
understand the impact their clean air plans on the Liverpool City Region, to support
complementary proposals. This will seek to avoid any unintended consequences,
such as displacement and avoid adverse effects on the Liverpool City Region
 We will undertake a skills map of all local authority and Combined Authority staff
working in the air quality area to identify where there is potential to share resources
and support peaks in workloads or demand across the area.
 We will foster stronger links with the health sector to develop collective approach to
measuring and taking action in response to poor air quality across the city region,
building on the preventative principles and a shared approaches to data and evidence
Better data to support decision-making

Means to achieve or resource
implications
We will utilise the skills of the LCR‟s
Air Quality Technical Group and
existing CA resources
We will maintain close co-operation
via the Air Quality Task Force and
equivalent bodies and networks

We will investigate options around
direct funding support to collect new
and improved data, or else reform
existing data-related contractual
frameworks that are already in
place.



We will supporting our local authorities in their duties to monitor and improve air
quality, and seek to foster a more “high tech”, consistent and extensive air quality
monitoring regime across the LCR. This will include air quality modelling (including
modelling of carbon emissions) and data management capabilities, to allow scenarios
to be tested and to inform decision-making processes.



With Public Health England, we will develop a more nuanced local model for air quality We will utilise processes such as the
impacts that can be run to forecast the likely outcome of numerous policy choices and SIF evaluation process to measure
12

(1) Actions by the Combined Authority
Short term actions (within the next 12 months)
provide greater certainty about impacts on air quality in decision-making processes
 We will help to build evidence around other potential pollutants of concern, including
particulate matter (PM) and sulphur dioxide from all relevant sources (including
shipping) and which could present future risks or problems
Effective plans and strategies to create clean, liveable and healthy places


Page 85






In developing our plans and projects as a Combined Authority, we will ensure that
issues of air quality are not considered in isolation and are fully woven into
conversations and actions how we will deliver low carbon, clean and inclusive growth.
Specifically, we will do this as a core part of our emerging Local Industrial Strategy,
which will be focused around four priorities
o Good work, health and wellbeing for all;
o Vibrant and connected communities;
o More businesses innovating and growing;
o Clean growth
These principles will be considered and woven fully into the development of other key
strategies, such as the Spatial Development Strategy, Housing Statement and a future
Mayoral Transport Plan
We commit to championing the delivery of agreed policy statements (e.g. the 2019
Combined Authority Transport Plan) on the imperative to deliver sustainable transport
enhancements and create a shift from polluting forms of transport to clean, zero
carbon forms of transport as significant contributors to better air quality locally.

Boosting active travel (walking and cycling) levels, especially for short trips


We will commission and support the delivery of a radical and comprehensive

Means to achieve or resource
implications
and better understand impacts

We will build the evidence gleaned
on air quality into our strategies and
plans and develop systems to
assess the impact of policies and
programmes on air quality. This will
involve existing LCRCA staff and
resources.
We will target the use of funds that
we manage as a CA to support the
clean growth and clear air agenda
and ensure that these are
imperatives and not platitudes or
tokenistic measures.

This will be commissioned through
the £172m Transforming Cities
Funding programme.
13

(1) Actions by the Combined Authority
Short term actions (within the next 12 months)



programme of walking and cycling upgrades within the next 4 years, linked to the
Transforming Cities Funding programme and the development of a Local Cycling and
Walking Investment Plan (LCWIP). The focus will be on a network of dedicated cycle
routes, which are segregated from traffic, to encourage the switch from cars to bikes
for short journeys. .
We will investigate measures to boost investment in behavioural change campaigns
and initiatives to complement this investment.

Page 86

Promoting clean fuels and technologies





We will accelerate plans to roll-out a network of alternative fuel facilities across the
region, building on previous good examples such as the Project Charge electric
vehicle charging facility, and also hydrogen fuelling facilities, linked to a £6.4 million
OLEV grant from government for a pilot hydrogen bus fleet
We will engage with the local university sector and bodies such as the Heseltine
Institute to establish further research opportunities in this area to inform our plans and
policies and support our local authority partners in tackling complex problems
We will work with Highways England to explore the scope of rolling-out their electric
van pilot scheme, working closely with all parties, including local Chambers of
Commerce to engage local small businesses and end users

Means to achieve or resource
implications
This work will also be supported by
our LRC Cycling and Walking
Commissioner

We are working to identify additional
staff resources and sources of
expertise amongst our local
authority partners

(1) Actions by the Combined Authority
Longer term actions (within the next 24-36 months)

Means to achieve or resource
implications
14

(1) Actions by the Combined Authority
Longer term actions (within the next 24-36 months)
A well-managed Key Route Network


Page 87

We will help develop and deliver improved urban traffic control systems across the city
region to better co-ordinate traffic movement and give intelligent priority, particularly
for public transport and for active travel users.
 We will test and use our co-ordinating and funding powers over a Key Route Network
to better plan and deliver measures across the city region that prioritise clean forms of
transport over polluting forms of transport and that support modal shift to sustainable
forms of travel.
Joint working with Highways England to reduce emissions on the Strategic Road
Network


We will investigate the potential expansion of the electric van pilot (under “Promoting
clean fuels and technologies”) into a hydrogen HGV pilot, reflecting the LCR‟s role as
a major port and logistics centre
 We will work with HE on a programme to develop prominent signage to Park and Ride
sites from the strategic road network, to complement the development of new
transport facilities and services (e.g. at Birkenhead North, Bidston, Newton-le-Willows
and Maghull North) and to maximise the success of the new Merseyrail train fleet that
is being introduced in 2019/20
Bus, rail and ferries as the modes of choice for longer distance trips



We are in the process of investigating alternative models of bus delivery to best serve
the needs of the city region and improve air quality and will begin to implement the
preferred option over the lifetime of this action plan
Through the Transforming Cities Fund‟s Green Bus Route proposals, we will develop
a new, holistic approach to bus quality, convenience and punctuality, by giving buses

Means to achieve or resource
implications
We will test options for traffic control
systems using Transforming Cities
Funding initially

We will engage closely with HE staff
and also identify opportunities
through HE discretionary funds to
support the implementation of
measures

Funding options for bus delivery re
core to the options development
work underway.
Transforming Cities funding could
be an appropriate use of funding to
deliverer enhancements to the
15

(1) Actions by the Combined Authority
Longer term actions (within the next 24-36 months)
the right priority on our highways to make bus travel a more attractive opportunity
We will explore lower-cost ways to cross the river by bus.
We are procuring new cleaner, greener Mersey Ferries vessels that will replace the
existing, 60-year old vessels and which provide a vital link between Wirral and
Liverpool, especially for cyclists
 As part of the introduction of the new Merseyrail rolling stock, we will further enhance
the Merseyrail cycle locker scheme to encourage many more short trips to rail stations
to be made by bike
 We will work to integrate new and existing cycle hire schemes within the new
smartcard and ticketing system in development, to allow people to pay for their
journeys quickly and easily and to „mix and match‟ with other forms of travel
 We will investigate and implement where appropriate, new park and ride sites or
extend existing sites where these remove or reduce polluting journeys by private car
by intercepting vehicles from the strategic road network
Vehicle scrappage and incentives to use clean vehicles, esp. taxis & light vans

Means to achieve or resource
implications
sustainable transport network




Page 88



We will investigate options for an LCR scrappage scheme, working with LAs to look at
phasing out dirty vehicles. This will include the examination of a scrappage scheme
for taxis, private hire vehicles, and light goods vehicles, targeted at small local
businesses. These could take the form of a leasing scheme, whereby clean vehicles
are procured centrally, whether by the CA/LAs, a joint venture or privately, and leased
to local business, to incentivise uptake and usage.
 We will champion greater consistency of taxi and private hire vehicle standards across
the city region, to create higher environmental standards overall, building on earlier
scoping work led by sefton MBC in 2018.
Tackling domestic emissions to clean the air

Funding sources and models and
means of delivery will be central to
this investigative work. There may
also be „clean air‟ funding available
through Government.
Work on taxi standards would be
policy-based and would not seek to
change the governance of taxi and
PHV licensing at a local authority
level.
Funding sources and models and
means of delivery will be central to
16

(1) Actions by the Combined Authority
Longer term actions (within the next 24-36 months)


We will investigate options and measures to improve our housing stock and domestic
emissions. Potentially, this could be around an energy retrofit programme and LCR
domestic boiler scrappage scheme to help local residents reduce domestic
consumption and tackle particulate matter emissions. This would also be through an
approach targeted to help least affluent residents first, in order to address fuel poverty.
Reducing freight emissions


Page 89



We will develop with local authorities a local approach to make freight and logistics as
sustainable as possible. This will include joint work with the National Infrastructure
Commission and the development of local pilots linked to e.g. local supermarket
delivery chains and last mile logistics, to explore the scope for rationalisation or
increase uptake of shopping deliveries to home instead of car trips to supermarkets.
This will also include actions to promote locally-sourced goods and produce that
reduce ”food miles”
As part of the above, we will investigate models for urban consolidation for movement
of goods focusing on options for „last mile‟ delivery.
With partners, we will seek to take forward a city region-wide vehicle accreditation
schemes being effectively applied in selected local authorities, notably scheme in
Sefton.

Means to achieve or resource
implications
this investigative work (e.g. part of
the Strategic Investment Fund (SIF)
process. This will also link to the
CA‟s emerging Housing Statement
and Local Industrial Strategy.
Funding sources and models and
means of delivery will be central to
this investigative work
This will include engagement with
relevant local authorities through
the National Infrastructure
Commission‟s joint learning
programmes, to learn from best
practice and innovation

17

(2) Recommended actions by the local authorities and our partners
Short term actions
Joined-up communications and campaigns

Means to achieve or
resource implications
Though pooled resources
and early engagement



Page 90

Collectively, we recommend developing and delivering a consistent marketing campaign on Air
Quality, including public information and an agreed calendar of events linked to consistent
press and PR messaging (e.g. „Let‟s Clean the LCR‟s Air‟)
 This will include a pilot across all local authorities of at least 2 schools per district to reduce the
private car school run and associated emissions. A co-ordinated approach will be required to
ensure that different approaches and different type of schools are being included (e.g. scoping
a trial of staggered school hours to tackle peaks and troughs of demand). This could lead to a
longer term strategy to extend this approach to all schools
Local planning powers and the creation of create clean, liveable and safe places
Through LCR Chief
Planning Officers‟ Group
 We recommend and support the development of LCR-wide, consistent planning conditions
and guidance for air quality that are agreed by each authority, e.g. policies around the
sustainable design of new developments and means of access, management of car parking
and vehicle movements, installation of low emission boilers, electric vehicle charging points,
dust suppression controls during building stage etc. This will also be considered as part of
the development of the Combined Authority‟s Spatial Development Strategy.
 We consider that the profile of health, air quality and “climate emergency” considerations
should be clearly factored into the policies, designations and major planning decisions made
by local planning authorities.
Enforcement of idling vehicles to reduce pollution at source
Through the LCR Air Quality
Technical Group
 We recommend the co-ordination of a consistent and collective approach to enforcing and
ultimately, reducing numbers of idling vehicles, particularly around schools and at taxi ranks, to
strengthen public messaging, and to tackle a root cause of emissions.
18

(2) Recommended actions by the local authorities and our partners
Longer term actions (within the next 24-36 months)
Green infrastructure and the mitigation of pollution


Page 91

We recommend the piloting of an approach to greening development across all districts and
where further greening can be part of this approach, e.g. targets for tree planting as part of
new development or interventions, green walls, green roofs, tree planting and soft
landscaping. This will also be considered as part of the development of the Combined
Authority‟s Spatial Development Strategy.
 We recommend the investigation of Air Quality Barriers where appropriate on parts of the
KRN and or the Highways England‟s network that are close to schools and housing
 To work to „green‟ existing public infrastructure, including bus shelters and railway stations
 To work to mitigate against poor air quality outside schools with greening-up and planting on a
consistent footing across the city region
Speed management to encourage modal shift and cleaner air


We encourage all LCR local authorities to test and adopt a policy of 20mph on all local
residential roads following on from positive outcomes experienced in Liverpool and parts of
Sefton, to encourage walking and cycling, especially for short trips.

Means to achieve or
resource implications
We will work with expert
bodies such as the Mersey
Forest and relevant partners

Through the Merseyside
Road Safety Partnership
Group and the Transport
Advisory Group

19

(3) Recommended actions for residents, communities and businesses
Short term actions
Joined-up communications and campaigns – “we’re all doing our bit”




Page 92








Through the umbrella of the Air Quality Task Force, we will work together to align our publicfacing communication and publicity plans to secure greater targeting of messages and coordination of public campaigns, messages and incentives on means to take action to improve
air quality.
The public sector will maintain effective engagement with businesses on the air quality agenda
and on the benefits of “responsible business” that reduces air quality emissions. This will
include early and meaningful engagement and consultation on publicly funded proposals that
have a significant bearing on movement or business operations across the city region.
Members of the Air Quality Task Force will work with Chambers of Commerce to seek to
establish air quality “consultancy” and awareness-raising sessions for local businesses so that
they can understand the need to change behaviour or practices, and the cost and business
opportunities associated with this. This will be aligned with existing business support or
outreach activities.
With our Chambers of Commerce and business support groupings, we will engage local small
businesses and end users on clean vehicle fleets and recuing air quality form their activities,
linked to the Highways England electric van trial scheme as an example.
Members of the Air Quality Task Force will support grassroots and community groups with the
provision of factual information, advice and joint campaigns and communications in order to
take action to improve local air quality (e.g. Car Free Days, walking buses, green
infrastructure, home insulation and energy efficiency).
We recommend joint action to raise the profile amongst residents and businesses of wood
burning stoves and their implications on particulate matter emissions, linked to the need for
better national regulations on definitions and standards.

Means to achieve or
resource implications
Though pooled resources
and early engagement
Through our joint campaigns
and marketing initiatives
As part of the plans that we
make for building a legacy
from 2019‟s Year of the
Environment activities.
Through the identification
and creation of a community
fund or similar

20

(4) Recommended Actions by Central Government and its agencies
Longer-term actions (within the next 24-36 months)

Page 93

Means to achieve or
resource implications
Joint work with Highways England
Engagement with Highways
England and with Central
 We recommend an investigation into the potential for speed reductions on the local motorway Government
network, to reduce emissions at source, leading to potential ask of Government to implement
 We will engage HE to invest in prominent signage to public transport park and ride sites from
the HE network to coincide with the introduction of complementary public transport
enhancements
Long term funding confidence to support clean air interventions and modal shift
With influencing umbrella
bodies such as UK100, BCC,
The Urban Transport Group,
 We will work with Government and through our collective network groups to make the case
for long-term funding certainty to support the delivery of measures that support clean air and other Metro Mayoral areas
and Core Cities Group
extend above and beyond compliance standards, so as to support wider quality of life and
wellbeing objectives. This includes both capital and revenue spend.
Streamlining local enforcement of pollution and emissions
Engagement with Central
Government and through the
provision of input to the
 We will engage with government to encourage the timely introduction of updated national
development of the
regulations and guidance to address issues such as idling vehicle engines, dark smoke and
Environment Bill
smoke control areas, as identified in the clean air strategy 2019. This is to address existing
cumbersome legislative provisions that can make local enforcement complex or bureaucratic.
Fiscal support for low emission vehicles
With influencing umbrella
bodies such as UK100, BCC,
The Urban Transport Group,
 We will make the case for financial incentives to be made available to freight and public
service fleet operators to invest in low emissions vehicles, scarp existing “dirty vehicles” or to other Metro Mayoral areas
and Core Cities Group
retrofit existing polluting engines through a targeted programme
 We will work with the government to ensure that taxation and regulatory systems support the
uptake of clean vehicles and clean fuels, through regimes such as the Bus Services
Operators Grant (BSOG), which currently incentivise the use of diesel rather than hydrogen
21

(4) Recommended Actions by Central Government and its agencies
Longer-term actions (within the next 24-36 months)
or electrical power
 We will engage government and industry on initiatives to remove the oldest and dirtiest
engines from the vehicle fleet through scrappage schemes or similar for domestic vehicles.
Building on experiences of the past, this must be done in ways that do not lead to unintended
consequences (e.g. social exclusion, the creation of incentives to drive or be car-dependent,
or that creates displacement from one pollutant to another).
Aiding co-ordination and communication on clean air

Page 94



We will impress upon Government the need to urgently embed air quality and climate
emergence more effectively across government departments and on a “prevention is better
than cure” principle to actively avoid the creation of emissions at source whether from
industry, from homes or from transport.
 We will seek support from central government, NHS and health bodies to bring greater
cohesion to LCR health boundaries and a “single voice” with the health sector, to work more
effectively across currently complex health boundaries and aligns budgets more effectively
Cleaner, greener national and inter-city connectivity




We will reiterate our evidenced work on the importance of national and inter-regional
enhancements to our rail networks to facilitate modal switch to rail and reduce emissions,
through schemes such as High Speed 2, Northern Powerhouse Rail. We will reiterate the
role that enhanced northern rail capacity and connectivity plays in supporting the rebalancing
of the UK‟s economy and in reducing wasteful haulage-related emissions from an overreliance on south eastern ports.
With other relevant local authorities and alliances, we will formulate an approach to reduce
emissions from local aviation and from shipping (freight and cruise liners), particularly
through measures that support the use of low emission fuels when taxiing/idling airside or
berthed in port, respectively.

Means to achieve or
resource implications

With influencing umbrella
bodies such as UK100, The
Urban Transport Group,
BCC, other Metro Mayoral
areas and Core Cities Group

With Transport for the North,
industry and with Central
Government

22

(4) Recommended Actions by Central Government and its agencies
Longer-term actions (within the next 24-36 months)

Means to achieve or
resource implications

Page 95
23

4.

Next steps

4.1

This interim plan coincides with the end of the Air Quality Task Force‟s initial
6-month work programme. It is considered a programmatic and robust
approach that guides the work of the Combined Authority and its partners in
the imperative to tackle the cause and effect of poor air quality. It also forms
a key input to other Combined Authority‟s emerging plans and programmes,
notably the Local Industrial Strategy, Climate Change Action Plan, Housing
Statement and Spatial Development Strategy, as prominent examples.

4.2

This plan has been informed and overseen by the LCR‟s Air Quality Task
Force and will be presented to the Combined Authority in November 2019.
Recognising the important work undertaken by the Combined Authority‟s
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on air quality in 2018, and the
transposition of this work into the this action plan, this interim plan will also
be presented a future meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
This will be ahead of its finalisation by the Task Force and by the Combined
Authority and its partners at the end of the current financial year.

4.3

A critical issue recognised in this plan concerns the importance of joint
working and a collaborative approach. This stems from the clear realisation
that no single body can resolve poor air quality in isolation. As such, it is
recommended that this plan and the recommendations contained within it,
are progressed through the governance and reporting structures of the Task
Force‟s partner authorities in due course. This could also include local
Health and Wellbeing Boards and the Combined Authority‟s Fairness and
Social Justice Advisory Board (FASJAB), to secure the buy-in and alignment
that is vital to deliver practical change.

4.4

This interim plan will be refined further ahead of the end of the financial year
and updated in light of new considerations. These wider considerations
include the “mandated” air quality study underway in Liverpool and which is
likely to have the biggest impact on the shape of the plan. The plan will also
be refined in light of legislative change, budgetary changes locally and
nationally and also “Climate Emergency” responses and that cannot be
considered in isolation of air quality considerations. It will then take the form
of a Final Action Plan by March 2020 that will be kept under regular review.

Page 96

24

Appendix
Recap on Air Quality Recommendations Agreed by LCRCA in June 2018
1. That the Metro Mayor, on behalf of Combined Authority, acts as a political “champion”
for a series of long term measures to improve air quality across the Liverpool City
Region, involving a wide range of influential bodies and decision makers. The
preliminary air quality feasibility study which is in the process of being finalised, and the
action plan that needs to be developed in response, should be formally considered by
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in due course. This will come ahead of
consideration by the Combined Authority.
2. 2. Allied to this, the Metro Mayor and the Combined Authority should champion a
communications plan to set out a commitment to engage with people across the LCR.
This should be targeted as follows:a) to engage with schools and young people who are particularly vulnerable to the
effects of poor air quality, aided by consistent educational materials and best
practice across the LCR;
b) to engage with the public protection and public health sectors to jointly raise
awareness, which could be through roadshows and events, as examples; and;
c) To promote National Clean Air Day and related campaigns.
3. The communications plan needs to explain clearly that the LCR has a problem and set
out what can be done to both alleviate symptoms, and help address the root of the
problem.
4. he Combined Authority needs to fully utilise and align its funding, transport, planning
and economic development powers to create an environment where people have
reduced reliance on road transport and make greater use of walking, cycling and public
transport. For example, this could be linked to the Authority‟s emerging digital strategy
and the powers that it has over a Key Route Network of local roads. This also needs to
be consistently applied through the Authority‟s plans and strategies, e.g. through the
Freight Strategy and Local Journeys Strategy.
5. The Combined Authority should use its emerging Spatial Development Strategy to
address poor air quality and to raise air quality as a policy consideration.
6. The Combined Authority should give prominent and consistent consideration to air
quality implications in its decision-making processes and in its investment decisions.
This could include much better “before and after‟ analysis in project and programme
evaluations.
7. The Combined Authority should support the six constituent local authorities in their
statutory duties to monitor and address air quality, and seek to foster a more “high
tech”, consistent and extensive air quality monitoring regime across the LCR. The
Combined Authority also needs to work collectively with the constituent local authorities
and with central government to tackle the problems caused by vehicles and engines
that create the most pollution. This should take the form of an LCR air quality task
force, convened by the Authority, comprising officers from the local authorities,
Combined Authority and public health bodies, to progress the actions needed in order
to improve air quality.

Page 97

25

Appendix 2
AECOM Air Quality Feasibility Study - Ranking of measures
Measure
Urban Traffic Management Control
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Engagement & Education
Building Standards
Cross Boundary Travel
Bus Fleet Upgrades
Mersey Toll
Fleet Management
Travel Cards
Web Resources
Domestic Solid Fuel Burning
NRMM ULEZ
Diesel Generators
Fleet Recognition Scheme
Car Clubs
Pollution Event Forecasting
Segregated Bus Corridors
Red Routes
Renewable Micro Energy Generation
Freight Coordination
Taxi Management
Real-time Passenger Info
Travel Planning Resources
Green Infrastructure
Commercial & Domestic Boilers
Air Quality Neutral
Variable Parking Charges
Cycling Infrastructure
Clean Air Zone
Construction Emissions
Street Works
Bus Layover Facilities
School Audits
Business Engagement
Shipping Emissions
Sustainable Procurement
Alt Fuel Infrastructure
Shared Space
Agricultural Emissions
Air Traffic Emissions

Page 98

Rank
score
72
72
72
72
64
48
48
48
48
48
48
48
48
36
36
36
32
32
32
24
24
24
24
24
24
24
24
24
18
18
18
16
16
16
12
12
12
8
8
8

26

Agenda Item 7
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY
To:

The Chair and Members of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

Meeting:

15 January 2020

Authority/Authorities Affected:

All

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER
APPOINTMENT TO THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 2019/20

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

To seek a nomination from the Committee for one Labour Councillor to be
nominated to the Audit and Governance Committee for 2019/20.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee appoints one Labour
Councillor to the Audit and Governance Committee for 2019/20.

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

Notification has been received from Sefton Metropoiltan Borough Council, that
Councillor Paula Murphy has resigned from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
As Councillor Murphy was one of the Labour Councillors to represent the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee on the Audit and Governance Committee, a new Labour
Councillor nomination is required.

3.2

The Combined Authority at its annual meeting agreed the allocation of seats to its
various Committees. Of the six seats allocated to Members for the Audit and
Governance Committee, two are allocated to Members of the Combined Authority.
The remaining four seats are allocated to Members of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee. Likewise any substitutes are similarly drawn from Overview and
Scrutiny members. In order to ensure political balance across the City Region there
are two seats allocated for Labour Party members and one each for the Liberal
Democrat and Conservative Party members.

3.3

An Independent Person, Mr Martin McDonagh has already been appointed to the
Audit and Governance Committee in 2018 for a period of up to two years.

Page 99

3.4

The membership of the Audit and Governance Committee is set out below:Members
Combined Authority Councillor
D
Baines
(Labour)
Councillor
P
Hackett
(Labour)
Overview
and Councillor
E
Finneran
Scrutiny Committee (Chair) (Labour)
Vacancy (Labour)
Councillor Dr John Pugh
(Liberal Democrat)
Councillor Sir Ron Watson
CBE (Conservative)
Independent Person

Mr Martin McDonagh

Substitute Members
Councillor
G
Morgan
(Labour)
Cllr I Maher (Labour)
Councillor
S
Marshall
(Labour)
Councillor L Whitley (Labour)
Councillor
C
Cashman
(Liberal Democrat)
Councillor
H
Cameron
(Conservative)
Not applicable

Terms of Reference for the Audit and Governance Committee
3.5

The Combined Authority also agreed to a number of amendments to the Audit and
Governance Committee at its Annual Meeting on 24th May 2019. See attached at
Appendix One.

4.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

4.1

Financial
There are no financial issues arising from this report.

4.2

Human Resources
There are no human resource issues arising from this report.

4.3

Physical Assets
There are no physical asset issues arising as a consequence of this report.

4.4

Information Technology
There are no Information Technology issues arising from this report.

5.

RISKS AND MITIGATION

5.1

There is a risk that should the appointment to the Audit and Governance Committee
2019/20 not be made this would be detrimental to the principle of good governance
for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority.

Page 100

6.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

6.1

There are no direct equality and diversity implications as a result of this report.

7.

COMMUNICATION ISSUES

7.1

There are no direct communication issues arising from this report.

8.

CONCLUSION

8.1

It is anticipated that the proposed appointments will support the operation of the
Audit and Governance Committee 2019/20. Upon appointment to the Committee,
arrangements will be made for appropriate training, if required.

JILL COULE
Monitoring Officer
Contact Officer(s):
Trudy Bedford, Committee Services Manager (0151 330 1330)
Appendices:
Appendix One
Background Documents:
None

Page 101

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix One
D.

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

1.

Composition

Membership
The Audit and Governance Committee will be composed of 7 Members as follows:
(i)
(ii)

6 Members which consist of two from the voting members of the Combined
Authority and four members from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and
1 Independent Member.

Chairing the Committee
The Chair shall be appointed annually from amongst the voting membership of the
Committee at its first meeting following the Annual Meeting and before proceeding to
other business.
Appointment
The Combined Authority shall appoint an Audit and Governance Committee at the
Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority, which shall consist of:
(a)

members appointed from the voting members of:
(i) Combined Authority and
(ii) Overview and Scrutiny Committee, together with
(iii) another elected voting member as a substitute member of the Audit and
Governance Committee to act in the absence of the member appointed
above, in such a manner that the members of the Audit and Governance
Committee taken as a whole will reflect, so far as reasonably practicable,
the balance of political parties for the time being prevailing among
members of the Constituent Councils when taken together;

(b)

at least one Independent Person, appointed through the prescribed procedure
and who:
(i) is not a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority;
(ii) is not a member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council for
which the authority is the principal authority;
(iii) is not a relative, or close friend, of a person within sub-paragraph (i) or (ii);
and
(iv) was not at any time during the 5 years ending with an appointment
(1) a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority; or
(2) a member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council for which
the authority is the principal authority; and

(c)

such non-voting members may be co-opted from other organisations in such
manner and at such times as the Audit and Governance Committee may
decide.

Page 103

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – May 2019

Appendix One
Quorum
No business of the Audit and Governance Committee shall be transacted unless at
least two-thirds of the voting members are present.
Meetings and Procedure
The Committee will conduct business in accordance with the overview and scrutiny
rules, meeting standing orders, access to information rules and other standing
orders, codes and protocols set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.
Delegation
The Committee may establish such sub-committees, panels and ad-hoc working
groups as it considers expedient to assist it.

2.

Statement of Purpose

The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component in the Combined
Authority‟s Corporate Governance Arrangements. Its main objectives are to:





3.

provide an independent and high-level focus on the audit, assurance and
reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and financial
standards;
provide independent assurance to members of the adequacy of the risk
management framework and the internal control environment. It provides
independent review of the Combined Authority‟s governance, risk management
and control frameworks and oversees the financial reporting and annual
governance processes. It oversees internal audit and external audit, helping to
ensure efficient and effective assurance arrangements are in place; and
promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Combined Authority
Members.
Functions

The Combined Authority has delegated to the Audit and Governance Committee the
following roles in order to advise the Combined Authority:
Governance, risk and control
(a) to review the Combined Authority‟s corporate governance arrangements
against the good governance framework, including the ethical framework and
consider the local code of governance;
(b)

to satisfy itself that the Combined Authority‟s Annual Governance Statement
properly reflects the risk environment and any actions required to improve it,
taking into account the internal audit‟s opinion on the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s framework of governance, risk and
management control, and demonstrate how governance supports the
achievements of the Combined Authority‟s objectives;

Page 104

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – May 2019

Appendix One

(c)

to consider the Combined Authority‟s arrangements to secure value for money
and review assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these
arrangements;

(d)

to consider the Combined Authority‟s framework of assurance and ensure that
it adequately addresses the risks and priorities of the Combined Authority;

(e)

to monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the
Combined Authority;

(f)

to monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the committee;

(g)

to consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the
implementation of agreed actions;

(h)

to review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the Combined
Authority from fraud and corruption;

(i)

to monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources;

(j)

to review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant
partnerships or collaborations;
Internal audit

(k)

to consider the effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s risk management
arrangements and the control environment. Review the risk profile of the
organisation and assurances that action is being taken on risk-related issues,
including partnerships with other organisations;

(l)

to monitor the effectiveness of the control environment, including arrangements
for ensuring value for money and for managing the Combined Authority‟s
exposure to the risks of fraud and corruption;

(m) to approve the internal audit charter;
(n)

to approve the Code of Ethics for Internal Audit;

(o)

to review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external providers of
internal audit services and to make recommendations;

(p)

to approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including the internal audit‟s
resource requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and
any work required to place reliance upon those other sources;

(q)

to support the effectiveness of the internal audit process and promote the
effective use of internal audit within the assurance framework;

Page 105

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – May 2019

Appendix One
(r)

to approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and
resource requirements;

(s)

to make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Head of Internal
Audit to determine if there are any inappropriate scope of resource limitations;

(t)

to oversee internal audit‟s independence, objectivity, performance and
professionalism;

(u)

to consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from
additional roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the Head of
Internal Audit. To approve and periodically review safeguards to limit such
impairments;

(v)

to consider reports from the Head of Internal Audit on internal audit‟s
performance during the year, including the performance of external providers of
internal audit services. These will include:




updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of
concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work;
regular reports on the results of the Quality Assurance & Improvement
Programme (QAIP);
reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform
to the Public Sector Internal Audit (PSIAS) and Local Government
Application Note (LGAN), considering whether the non-conformance is
significant enough that it must be included in the Annual Governance
Statement (AGS).

(w) to consider the Head of Internal Audit‟s annual report:



the statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and LGAN
and the results of the QAIP that support the statement – these will
indicate the reliability of the conclusions of the internal audit
the opinion of the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Combined
Authority‟s framework of governance, risk management and control
together with the summary of the work supporting the opinion – these
will assist the committee in reviewing the AGS.

(x)

to consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested;

(y)

to receive reports outlining the action taken where the Head of Internal Audit
has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be
unacceptable to the Combined Authority or there are concerns about progress
with the implementation of agreed actions;

(z)

to contribute to the QAIP and in particular, to the external quality assessment of
internal audit that takes place at least once every five years;

(aa) to consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the AGS,
where required to do so by the Accounts and Audit Regulations;

Page 106

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – May 2019

Appendix One

(bb) to provide free and unfettered access to the Audit & Governance Committee
chair for the Head of Internal Audit, including the opportunity for a private
meeting with the Committee;
External audit
(cc) to support the independence of external audit through consideration of the
external annual assessment of its independence and review of any issues
raised by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA);
(dd) to consider the annual letter, reports and recommendations of external audit
and inspection agencies and their implications for governance, risk
management or control, and monitor management action in response to the
issues raised by external audit;
(ee) to comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it
gives value for money;
(ff)

to commission work from internal and external audit;

(gg) to advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between
external audit and internal audit, inspection agencies and other relevant bodies;
Financial reporting
(hh) to review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider whether
appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are
concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to be
brought to the attention of the Combined Authority;
(ii)

to consider the external auditor‟s report to those charged with governance on
issues arising from the audit of the accounts;

Standards
(jj)

to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members;

(kk) to assist Combined Authority Members to observe the Combined Authority‟s
Code of Conduct for Members;
(ll)

to advise the Combined Authority on the adoption, revision or replacement of
the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members and the Combined
Authority‟s Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints that Combined Authority
Members have failed to comply with the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct
for Members (“the Authority‟s Arrangements”);

(mm)to monitor the operation of the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for
Members and the Authority„s Arrangements;

Page 107

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – May 2019

Appendix One
(nn) to advise, train or arrange to train Combined Authority Members to observe the
Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members;
(oo) to determine, in accordance with the Authority‟s Arrangements, whether a
Member has failed to comply with the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct
for Members and, if so, to determine what action (if any) to take in respect of
the Combined Authority Member, such actions to include:–






publication of the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards
Committee in respect of the Subject Member‟s conduct;
reporting the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards Committee
to the Combined Authority for information;
recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member
should be censured;
instructing the Combined Authority‟s Monitoring Officer to arrange
training for the Subject Member; or
recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member
should be removed from all appointments to which the Subject Member
has been appointed or nominated by the Combined Authority;

(pp) to determine appeals against the Monitoring Officer‟s decision on the grant of
dispensations;
Accountability arrangements
(qq) to report to the Combined Authority on the Committee‟s findings conclusions
and recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Authority‟s governance, risk management and internal control frameworks;
financial reporting arrangements, and internal and external audit functions;
(rr)

to report to the Combined Authority on the performance of the Committee in
relation to its Terms of Reference and the effectiveness of the Committee in
meeting its purpose;

(ss) to publish an annual report on the work of the Committee;
Amendments to the Constitution
(tt)

to consider proposed constitutional amendments;

Information Management
(uu) to determine on behalf of the CA information management policies and
procedures and monitor their application;
(vv)

to report to the CA on an annual basis, the up to date position regarding
information management policies, procedures and their application.

Page 108

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – May 2019

Agenda Item 8
LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY
To:

The Chair and Members of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

Meeting:

15 January 2020

Authority/Authorities Affected:

All

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY SCRUTINY OFFICER
REVIEW INTO THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

The purpose of this report is to present the draft report of the Scrutiny Review into
the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership for approval and onward consideration by the
LCR Local Enterprise Partnership and LCR Combined Authority.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:
(a) Approve the report of the review into the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership as
set out in Appendix One; and
(b) Request that the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership and the LCR Combined
Authority consider the report’s recommendations and report back to a future
meeting of the Committee.

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

At its meeting on 19 June 2019, Members agreed to undertake a review to consider
the impact and outcomes arising from the work of the LCR Local Enterprise
Partnership.

3.2

At a meeting of this Committee on 4 September 2019, Members considered the
initial scoping document, with the evidence sessions taking place on 23 October, 13
November and 20 November, a final concluding session took place on 18
December 2019 to review the findings and proposed recommendations.

3.3

The drafted report for this review is attached as Appendix One to this report.
Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are asked to approve this report
and request that this is considered by the Combined Authority.

Page 109

4.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

4.1

Financial
There are no financial implications associated with the implementation of the
recommendations in this report.

4.2

Human Resources
There are no human resources implications associated with the implementation of
the recommendations in this report.

4.3

Physical Assets
There are no physical assets associated with the implementation of the
recommendations in this report.

4.4

Information Technology
There are no information technology associated with the implementation of the
recommendations in this report.

5.

RISKS AND MITIGATION

5.1

There is a risk that the Combined Authority will not accept the recommendations
made in this report. This has been mitigated by identifying a range of actions which
reflect the findings of the Task and Finish Group which are in line with the
Combined Authority’s approach to welfare reform.

6.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

6.1

There are no Equality and Diversity implications associated with the implementation
of the recommendations in this report.

7.

COMMUNICATION ISSUES

7.1

There are no specific communications implications
implementation of the recommendations in this report.

Page 110

associated

with

the

8.

CONCLUSION

8.1

The draft report of the Scrutiny Review into the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership
be considered for approval and onward consideration by the LCR Local Enterprise
Partnership and the LCR Combined Authority.

TRUDY BEDFORD
Statutory Scrutiny Officer

Contact Officers:
Trudy Bedford, Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (0151 330 1330)

Appendices:
Appendix One – Drafted report of Working Group review into LCR Local Enterprise
Partnership

Page 111

Page 112

LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee
The LCR Local Enterprise Partnership Review
Final report - December 2019

Page 113

CONTENTS

Pages

Introduction by Councillor Tom Crone, Chair of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

1

Background to the Review

3

Developing the Scoping document

3

Who did we speak to?

4

What did we hear and from whom?

5

What conclusions did we reach

10

What recommendations are we making

11

Page 114

1. Introduction by Councillor Tom Crone, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee
It is with great pleasure that I present the findings and recommendations of the
Committee’s review into how the Liverpool City Region (LCR) has responded to the
evolving role of the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) as a consequence of the
LEP Review and the establishment of the LCR Combined Authority.
Members chose to undertaken this review partly to develop a greater understanding
of the work of the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership and to also determine how it
contributed towards the economic growth across the Liverpool City Region.
Through the evidence gathering sessions we had an opportunity to speak directly
with Government representatives, a LEP Network Ambassador, Chief Executives
from two Local Authorities and LCR Combined Authority officers.
In making our recommendations, we recognise the role of the LCR Local Enterprise
Partnership in supporting the LCR Combined Authority to achieve economic growth
across the City Region. From the evidence we gathered it is clear that the LCR Local
Enterprise Partnership is committed towards supporting business growth across the
City Region.
We have agreed 17 recommendations which are grouped as follows:





Governance
Business Resilience
Supporting Climate Change
Skills
Communications

Before I finish I would like to thank:


Members of the Task and Finish Group for their active contributions to the
Review.



Mark Basnett, Managing Director and Tony Wade, Director of Finance from
the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership who provided detailed insight into the
work of the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership.



The various witnesses who attended our evidence gathering sessions and
gave up their time to share their views on the LCR LEP. From the information
they provided we have been able to develop recommendations which are
evidence based.



The LCR Combined Authority officers, who have directly supported the
review, organised our activity, responded to our requests for information and
provided the evidence upon which we have based our recommendations.

Page 115

Membership of the Task and Finish Review

Councillor Tom Crone
(Chair)
Councillor Helen Cameron

Councillor Kevan Wainwright
(Vice Chair)
Councillor Jean Stapleton

Councillor Robyn Hattersley

Councillor Adrian Jones

Councillor Edna Finneran

Councillor Sam Marshall

Councillor Bill Woolfall

Councillor Tricia O’Brien

Councillor Louise Whitley

Councillor Christine Howard

Page 116

2.

Background to the Review

At the Committee’s first meeting of the 2019 - 20 municipal year, held on the 19 June
2019, the Committee considered its work programme for the year ahead. As part of
this process Members identified the work of the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership
(LEP) as a topic for a Task and Finish Review, as they wanted to consider the
impact and outcomes arising from the work of the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership
and to also equip themselves with a greater understanding of its work.
The LCR Local Enterprise Partnership was created in 2012 with the aim of bringing
together the private sector and Local Authorities in a business led partnership. The
aim of which was to drive forward private-sector led growth and job creation in the
City Region. The LCR LEP covers the local authority areas of Liverpool, Halton,
Knowsley, St Helens, Wirral and Sefton and is co-terminus with the geography of the
LCR Combined Authority.
The LCR LEP has evolved since it was first established. It makes no funding
decisions. It advises on the strategic merit of programs and projects in the context of
the Strategic Investment Fund and Government has allocated Local Growth Funding
to LEPs.
In establishing this Review, it was important for Members to consider the
development the LCR LEP had undertaken since its establishment in 2012 and the
Framework within which it has operated and now operates
Significantly, for Members it was important to understand the changes in the
relationship between the LCR LEP and the LCR Combined Authority, following the
LCR Combined Authority taking legal responsibility of the LCR LEP. It was noted that
the establishment of a Growth Company was the first activity of this new venture.
The Growth Company would focus on four key areas of activity to contribute towards
the strategic priorities of the LCR LEP and LCR Combined Authority and included:



3.

Sector Development;
Global Promotion and Inward Investment
Business Growth
Talent Development/Careers Hub
Developing the scoping document

At a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 4 September 2019,
Members considered the initial scoping document of the Task and Finish Review. At
this meeting, Members also received a presentation from Mark Basnett, Managing
Director, LCR Local Enterprise Partnership, who provided a summary of the
following:





The role of the LCR LEP;
The relationship with the LCR Combined Authority;
The work of the LEP Board and LEP Sub-Boards;
How the LCR LEP engaged with stakeholders;
The LCR LEP’s priorities; and

Page 117



The establishment of the LCR Growth Company.

Members discussed how the LCR LEP supported SME’s in the City Region, of which
there were a high number, recognising the LCR LEP had a role to play in supporting
SME’s to become more resilient to the local economic climate. Members were also
keen for the voice of workers and Trade Unions to be reflected within the LEP
Boards membership and welcomed the LCR LEP being a Living Wage employer.
Members considered both how the LCR LEP was funded and the establishment of
the Growth Company.
It was agreed that the aim of the review would be as follows:To review how the Liverpool City Region (LCR) has responded to the evolving role of
LEPs as a consequence of the LEP Review and the LCR Combined Authority.

4.

Who did we speak to?

As set out in the scoping document, the review involved three evidence sessions.
Evidence Session One
The aim of this session was to determine whether the LCR LEP is compliant and
effective from the perspective of LCR stakeholders, Government and other relevant
parties such as the LEP Network or LEP peers. To also understand the programmes
delivered by the LEP and assess the impact they have had on the City Region.
The Group heard evidence from:




Mark Basnett, Managing Director, LCR LEP
Tony Wade, Finance Director, LCR LEP
Dr Ann Limb CBE, Chair of the South East Midlands LEP & LEP Ambassador

Evidence Session Two
The aim of this session was to assess the effectiveness of the programmes and
projects delivered by the LCR LEP, such as ERDF and the relationship with Local
Authorities.
The Group heard evidence from:







Mark Basnett, Managing Director, LCR LEP
Tony Wade, Finance Director, LCR LEP
David Parr OBE, Chief Executive, Halton Borough Council
Paul Cherpeau, Liverpool Chamber of Commerce
Mick Allen, Assistant Director, Area Lead and Northern Powerhouse Team,
Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy
Tony Reeves Chief Executive, Liverpool City Council

Page 118



Pernille Kousgarrd, EU Policy and Brexit Lead Officer, LCR Combined
Authority

Evidence Session Three
The aim of this session was to look at the long term vision of the LCR LEP and also
consider the role of the Inward Investment Team in supporting this vision.
The Group heard evidence from:






Mr Asif Hamid MBE, Chair of the LCR LEP
Mr Paul Corcoran, Deputy Chair of the LCR LEP and Chair of the Digital and
Creative Board
Mark Basnett, Managing Director, LCR LEP
Mark Bousfield, Director of Commercial Development and Investment, LCR
Combined Authority
Rachael Bampton Aitken, Interim Head of Inward Investment, LCR Combined
Authority

What did we hear and from whom?
Evidence Session One
Mark Basnett, Managing Director of the LCR LEP, outlined the role and purpose of
the LCR LEP and explained how the Annual Performance Review of the LCR LEP
was conducted. Members were informed that the Annual Performance Review was
undertaken by the Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy and it
focused on three areas – Strategy, Governance and Delivery. The LCR LEP had
been reviewed in January 2019 and had achieved a Good rating in all three areas.
Dr Ann Limb CBE, explained, from her experience, how a LEP could achieve an
exceptional rating. She highlighted how the LCR LEP was making progress towards
achieving an exceptional rating in Strategy and Delivery and explained how by
broadening the membership of the LEP Board and Sub-Boards this could achieve an
exceptional Governance rating.
Members recognised the vital role SME’s played in supporting economic growth and
explored how the LCR LEP could support SME’s in enhancing their resilience.
Members recognised that engaging SME’s into the work of the Board would be
challenging, however, it could also provide an SME with mentoring opportunities
from one of the larger organisations and provide valuable insight to inform the
priorities and work of the LCR LEP Board and Sub-Boards. Dr Ann Limb CBE noted
that to achieve effective engagement of SME’s the LCR LEP may need to give
consideration as to how it organises its Board meetings so they are relevant to
SME’s.
On hearing how the Annual Reviews for LEPs were conducted, Members felt there
was an opportunity for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be engaged in this

Page 119

process. By testing the evidence to be presented at the Annual Review, the
Committee would be able to add value to the process.
Members explored the LCR LEP’s role in supporting the LCR Combined Authority’s
commitment to be net carbon neutral by 2040. From the evidence presented, the
LCR LEP were carrying out a number of activities which included a Low Carbon
Board to drive forward the clean growth agenda. The Low Carbon Board evolved into
the Clean Growth Board and was tasked with focusing on the broader issue of
climate change and how SME’s can be supported to reduce their energy
consumption.
Evidence Session Two
Members considered evidence which explained how the LCR LEP and the LCR
Combined Authority were working collaboratively to deliver projects identified within
the Local Growth Fund.
At this session, Members explored how the Growth Company of the LCR LEP was
interacting with each of the Local Authority Growth Company’s. Members were keen
to identify whether the establishment of the Growth Companies by the Local
Authorities and the LCR LEP had created any duplication. They were also reassured to learn that the LCR LEP had undertaken discussions with each of the
constituent Local Authority Chief Executives to determine their economic priorities
and how the LCR LEP could support in the delivery of these priorities.
Mick Allen, BEIS, explained how the performance of LEPs was assessed and he
confirmed that the LCR LEP was working well and achieving its targets. However,
key challenge faced by the LCR LEP was the delivery of the projects within the Local
Growth Fund. Mick also explained that the performance measures for LEPs were not
available within the public domain. Members reflected upon this information and
requested that feedback be provided to BEIS explaining the importance of having
such information in the public domain.
Members heard evidence from David Parr OBE, Chief Executive of Halton Borough
Council and Tony Reeves, Chief Executive of Liverpool City Council, who explained
how the LCR LEP encouraged inclusive growth and summarised how they worked
together to mitigate other risks, such as the implications on businesses as a result of
a No Deal Brexit.
Evidence Session Three
The final session heard from Mr Asif Hamid MBE, Chair of the LCR LEP Board, who
explained in detail the membership of the LCR LEP Board and how, following the
LEP Review, the membership of the Board had changed to become more diverse
with a higher proportion of private sector representation. Members were also
provided with an understanding of the demands and time commitment for individual
Board Members. However it was recognised that as Board Members, they would
have an opportunity to directly improve the City Region economy, nurture local skills
and create inclusive growth.

Page 120

Members heard evidence of how investment in big ticket projects such as Digital and
Tidal had the potential to significantly improve the economy of the City Region.
These projects were innovative and brought together world class knowledge which
was extremely positive for the City Region.
Mark Bousfield explained how projects such as the Cruise Liner Terminal and
Shakespeare of the North, could increase visitor numbers to the City Region. It was
noted that tourism in the City Region was healthy. Members were informed that
there were plans to improve visitor numbers during the working week and also
encourage visitors to visit attractions across the City Region, including town centres.
Further insight into the benefits a LEP can bring to an area were shared with
Members. Members were informed how the LCR LEP was successful in
representing the voice of business to both the LCR Combined Authority and Central
Government. Importantly they were also able to engage with businesses who would
not ordinarily engage with the public sector.
Mr Asif Hamid MBE, explained how the LCR LEP was encouraging Local Authorities
to increase their use of local businesses in line with the ‘Keeping it Local’ initiative.
The LCR LEP recognised the importance of businesses providing successful
apprenticeship programmes. Reflecting upon the levels of deprivation across the City
Region, Members identified that further work was required to ensure that any
barriers that young people faced in accessing apprenticeships were removed.
Members also heard how in his role as Chair of the LCR LEP Board, Mr Asif Hamid
MBE, lobbied Central Government on a regular basis to encourage them to change
the application of the apprenticeship levy and to also devolve greater powers relating
to the Apprenticeship levy to the LCR Combined Authority. Anecdotal evidence was
provided of some organisations passing on a percentage of their Levy to smaller
businesses. Paul Corcoran informed Members, that there were misconceptions
relating to the Apprenticeship Levy which could have a negative impact on its
application and there was an opportunity to simplify this message and make it more
meaningful for businesses.
Mark Basnett explained to the Group how the LCR LEP was supporting Local
Authorities with the regeneration of Town Centres by working closely with the
relevant Chamber of Commerce and Local Authority Leadership Teams. LCR LEP
Sub-Boards were also considering how to bring innovation into town centres and
make them more attractive to tech companies and other businesses. The SubBoards were also providing challenge on how Town Centres could look and function
in the future.
Members discussed the communications messaging the LCR LEP produced and
from the evidence gathered noted how the LCR LEP was gaining traction through its
interaction with businesses and other stakeholders. However, Members recognised
that ward Councillors may not be aware of the activity the LCR LEP was undertaking
and felt it was important that this information be shared more widely. Furthermore,
this communication should also be shared more broadly across the City Region.

Page 121

During this evidence session, Members also learnt about the LCR LEP’s role in
supporting the Careers Hub and those Schools who had engaged with the Careers
Hub had a designated Enterprise Advisor. The evidence demonstrated that if
students had 4 or more interactions with business then they were 80% more likely to
be employed. Schools were also reporting on how they were improving young
people’s exposure to businesses. At the recent LEP Annual Conference there had
been discussion on how to increase school engagement with the business sector, in
recognition of the many benefits this could provide and notably on how the
engagement can better prepare young people for employment.
The Group also expanded on discussions at previous evidence sessions relating to
the clean growth agenda and sought clarity on what activity the LCR LEP was
undertaking to encourage the business community to have regard of this in their day
to day activity. Members noted that the LCR LEP had established a Clean Growth
Board and that the North West Energy Hub was hosted by the LCR LEP. However, it
was recognised that a fundamental transformation was required to reduce energy
consumption and stimulate green growth.

5.

What conclusions did we reach?

From the evidence sessions the following conclusions were reached:













The LCR LEP was compliant and performing well in accordance with the
Annual Review.
The LCR LEP Board and Sub-Board membership should be further expanded
to include more SME representation.
The LCR LEP was actively working to have regard to the climate emergency.
The LCR LEP worked collaboratively with Local Authorities.
The LCR LEP was supporting the City Region in being prepared for the
outcome of Brexit.
The LCR LEP Board had a diverse membership.
The LCR LEP was successfully contributing towards a healthy visitor
economy.
The LCR LEP’s strategies reflected the City Region and were influenced by
the evidence from Sub-Boards, research and intelligence.
The Apprenticeship Levy continued to present challenges, however, the LCR
LEP was vocal in its support of the Levy and continued to lobby Central
Government to provide the LCR Combined Authority with greater devolved
powers to apply the Levy according to local need.
That the work of the LCR LEP was communicated but often only to interested
groups, further work was required to communicate their work and activities to
a broader audience.
The Careers Hub and Enterprise Advisors are an important element as part of
the wider service landscape available to support pupils to understand and
gain experience of the world of work.

Page 122

6.

What recommendations are we making?

Governance
(1)

The Committee welcomes the important role and the added value the LCR
LEP has in supporting economic growth across the City Region.

(2)

The Committee commends the LCR LEP on achieving a Good status in the
Annual Review and recommends that the membership of the LCR LEP Board
and Sub-Boards be expanded to include more SME representation and an
update on this progress be provided to the Committee.

(3)

The outcome of the 2019 Annual Performance Review be shared with the
Committee.

(4)

In the lead up to the 2020 LEP Annual Performance Review (APR), the
Committee be engaged in the process to inform the evaluation of the LCR
LEP should timing allow in 2020, if not a commitment that this occur from
2021 onwards.

(5)

The LCR LEP write to BEIS, sharing the outcome of this Review and request
that they consider publishing the performance data of all 38 LEPs to support
transparency of decision making, given that they oversee and direct
expenditure of significant sums of public money.

(6)

The LCR LEP produce a performance dashboard which contains key metrics
and this be presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee every 6
months.

(7)

Members of the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee be invited to the LEP
Annual Conference and to LCR LEP Board meetings to observe the work of
the Board.

(8)

The LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee receive regular performance
information on the impact of the LCR LEP.

Business Resilience
(9)

The Committee recognised the unique role the LCR LEP had and how they
could support SMEs in the City Region. The LCR LEP Board and Sub-Boards
should consider how they can identify and develop appropriate mechanisms
to enhance SME’s resilience.

Supporting Climate Change
(10)

In recognising the unique role the LCR LEP has in influencing the business
community, they undertake a carbon audit of businesses across the City
Region, which could include the following:-

Page 123

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

A baseline audit using EPC data;
A targeted audit through the North West Energy Hub Team, subject to
capacity; and
Co-ordinate the above actions with constituent Local Authorities.

(11)

To encourage the LCR LEP to have the implications of climate change at the
forefront of their decision making processes, the Committee asks that Climate
Impact be included as an impact assessment on all reports.

(12)

Recognising the role of the LCR LEP’s Clean Growth Board and Built
Environment Sub-Board, the Committee requests that it be tasked with
engaging with the construction industry to determine their current practises
and assess how they impact on the climate and identify measurers to support
the industry in reducing their carbon footprint.

Skills
(13)

The LCR LEP continue to support the LCR Combined Authority to deliver
apprenticeship programmes which reflect current and future skills markets
across the City Region.

(14)

The LCR LEP continue to work collaboratively with the LCR Combined
Authority, businesses, colleges and other stakeholders to promote the
Apprenticeship programme. In particular, to work closely with the business
community to promote and support the positive impact apprenticeships can
have in the work place and the wider City Region.

(15)

The LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee receive regular performance
updates on Apprenticeships.

Communications
(16)

The LCR LEP produce a performance dashboard which sets out their activity
and performance at a City Region level and also at the respective constituent
Local Authority level. This performance dashboard be circulated to all
Councillors from across the City Region on a 6 monthly basis.

(17)

The Committee suggests that the LCR LEP explore how its achievements can
be better promoted and celebrated.

Page 124

